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The Trustees of the North of England Zoological Society (“NEZS” / “the Charity” / “the Society”) are pleased to present their 
annual report, together with the consolidated financial statements of the Charity and its subsidiaries for the year ended 
31 December 2020, which are also prepared to meet the requirements for a directors’ report and financial statements for 
Companies Act 2006 purposes. 

NEZS is a conservation and education charity which owns and runs Chester Zoo.

The financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the Companies Act 2006, the Society’s Memorandum and Articles 
of Association, and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities 
preparing their financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland (FRS102).

Charitable objects

The Society’s objects, as set out in its Memorandum and Articles of Association, are 

(a) to promote the conservation of the physical and natural environment by promoting biodiversity; and 

(b) to advance the education of the public on the conservation of the physical and natural world and the promotion of 
biodiversity; in particular by, but not limited to, the provision of public education, scientific study and the maintenance of 
endangered animals, plants and habitats in both protective and natural environments.

Our Mission

Preventing extinction

Our Strategy

The Society’s five-year strategic plan was launched in 2018 and supports the mission statement “Preventing extinction”.  
The strategic plan contains six strategic objectives which are:

• Preventing extinction by achieving the greatest conservation impact
• Preventing extinction by being a world class visitor attraction
• Preventing extinction by providing exceptional animal and plant care
• Preventing extinction by ensuring financial stability
• Preventing extinction by developing our people
• Preventing extinction by being a voice for change

Registered Charity Number 306077
Registered Company Number 00287902
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Governance Introduction

We were relieved to have been able to open long enough to 
hold our Lanterns evenings throughout December. Although the 
one month lockdown in November delayed the first few nights, 
we enjoyed seeing the smiles on our visitors’ faces for each 
night in December until Christmas. It’s become a very special 
period for us and was the pinnacle of a very difficult year.
 
The Trustees are indebted to the hard work of all the staff and 
executives within the zoo and are proud of the professional 
manner in which they have handled such a turbulent period in its 
history.  Not only are we indebted to our own people, we were 
overwhelmed by the response to our calls for financial support 
from the public and particularly our members.  The support of 
those members, both in donations and in continuing to maintain 
their subscriptions despite the long periods when they have 
been unable to visit, has helped us deal with the significant 
costs when shut with no visitor income.  Our public call for 
financial support through the ‘Save our Zoo’ campaign was 
more successful than any of us could have imagined. It raised 
£3.3m and the support and outpouring of affection for Chester 
Zoo that we received from people in the local community and 
beyond was incredibly heart-warming.
 
As well as successfully lobbying for a summer re-opening date, 
we joined others in calling for the creation of a support fund 
for zoos.  Sadly, however, the Government’s fund is unduly 
restrictive for large entities like Chester Zoo and will only 
assist smaller zoos at a stage when they are possibly beyond 
saving – we continue to lobby to change this.  The survival of all 
conservation zoos is important to all of us.  
 
Despite all of these efforts we had to make difficult decisions to 
reduce costs and very sadly some staff left us and many went 
through periods of furlough – not something any of us would 
have anticipated at the start of the year.
 
Conservation and conservation education are our charitable 
objectives. The Trustees are proud of the fact that Covid-19 
restricted but did not halt these objectives. The Society 
continued with its conservation work within the collections of 
animals and plants on the zoo site. Our team of conservationists 
worked tirelessly despite the Covid restrictions, and its impact 
on their work, colleagues and family life. Chester Zoo operates 

24 hours a day and 7 days a week and this did not falter during 
this difficult period.  Unfortunately we have had to move some 
of our field projects and other ex-situ activities to a ‘ticking over’ 
position.  None of us wanted this to be the case but Chester Zoo 
is led by a professional group of people and we therefore remain 
confident that we will emerge from the Coronavirus restrictions 
in a good position to return to full levels of activity. 
 
Our education and engagement team rose to the challenge of a 
greater emphasis upon the virtual world and established a suite 
of sessions for schools and colleges around the world.  Our PR 
team and keepers also brought a taste of zoo life to the living 
rooms of thousands of people with their popular virtual tours. 
 
During 2020, Angela Pinnington and Professor Russell 
Newton, both members of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee, retired as Trustees and we thank both of them for 
their time and energy over the past years. We also elected 
Jen Carter as a Trustee and she has now joined the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee. Trustees have had to hold 
virtual board and committee meetings, not ideal in a crisis, 
but I must thank all of my colleagues for their contributions 
in directing our efforts to maintain as much of our mission as 
possible, whilst focusing upon our financial health.
 
Finally, although this is a review of 2020, I must mention that 
in March 2021 Dr Mark Pilgrim, who joined Chester Zoo in 
1988 and has been key to many of our successes, not least in 
his term as Chief Executive from 2010, left the zoo in March 
2021. Mark’s reputation within the zoo community made 
him admirably placed to ensure that we had influence at the 
highest levels. We were sorry to see Mark leave and wish him 
well with his future activities. 

Trustees appointed Jamie Christon, formerly the Chief 
Operating Officer, as Chief Executive in March and we look 
forward to Jamie leading the zoo back to full strength. 

Bruce Ursell, Chair of Trustees

Trustees, Executive Team & Advisers Following the incredible achievement of having attracted over 2 million visitors in 
2019, the impact for us of the global pandemic arriving in the UK was unforeseen and 
devastating. The virus forced us to close our gates to the public and then to open with 
visitor numbers restricted.  Despite the restrictions we did have the highlight on 24th 
October of being able to reopen Monsoon Forest, the jewel in the crown of Islands, 
following the devastating fire in 2018. Despite not being able to have a reopening 
party, we held a virtual event and showed our members, and those who attended the 
fire, including families of Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, the finished product.
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The Year in Numbers Our Awards
In 2020…

BIAZA Awards 

Animal Husbandry, Care and Breeding Category:
BIAZA Gold Award  “A holistic approach to improving 
Rhinoceros Hornbill (Buceros rhinoceros) care & breeding at 
Chester zoo” 

Conservation Category:
BIAZA Silver Award “Nature Reserve at Chester Zoo” 

Horticulture Category:
BIAZA Gold Award “The Plant Project” 

Travellers’ Choice Award for The Oakfield.  

University of Chester, Premier Placement Provider Award

WE PLANTED 

1,072 
TREES

WE SPENT 

£28.4m 
ON OUR MISSION

5,593 
LEARNERS TOOK PART IN 

ONLINE WORKSHOPS WITH 
OUR EDUCATION EXPERTS

OUR VIRTUAL ZOO 
DAY VIDEOS HAD

17,244,399 
VIEWS ON FACEBOOK

WE WELCOMED 

75,019 
SOCIALLY-DISTANCED 

VISITORS TO THE 
LANTERNS

WE THANKED YOU 
FOR BUYING 

20,862 
ADOPTIONS

WE WELCOMED 

1,182,652 
VISITORS

OUR “SAVE OUR ZOO” 
CAMPAIGN RAISED 
A MUCH-NEEDED 

£3.3m

VISITOR RELATED  
INCOME FELL BY 

£10m
WE OPENED FOR 

252
DAYS OUT OF 366
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European zoo first as Mexican tree 
frogs are successfully bred

Joy as critically endangered  
eastern black rhino born 

Large heath butterflies, bred at the zoo, return to 
Manchester peatlands for the first time in 150 years

Precious great green macaws hatch  
at zoo for the first time 

Rare ‘pencil tip-sized’  
pygmy chameleons hatch

‘Virtual Zoo Days’ launch as zoo closes 
due to national lockdown

Monsoon Forest reopens,  
almost two years after tragic fire

Magical winter event, The Lanterns, sells 
out and draws high acclaim

Save Our Zoo campaign raises millions as 
pandemic lockdown threatens zoo’s future

Prestigious award ranks The Oakfield 
as one of the world’s best pubs 

Female Asian elephant  
born to mum Sundara Hi Way

Birth of critically endangered ring-tailed 
lemur twins delivers lockdown cheer 

Highlights of the Year

OCTOBER DECEMBER

JUNE AUGUST

FEBRUARY APRIL

SEPTEMBER NOVEMBER

MAY JULY

JANUARY MARCH

chesterzoo.org  9
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LATIN AMERICA
CONSERVING SPECIES OF 

AFRICA
CONSERVING SPECIES OF 

After only starting to work with critically endangered Great green macaws last 
year we were delighted that our pair bred for the first time and successfully 
reared two chicks during 2020.  Often it can take many years for pairs of macaws 
to bond and settle before attempting to breed, so to get such a rapid breeding 
success was unexpected.  This year sadly saw our expedition planned to Ecuador 
cancelled, but we have maintained support for the communities who continue to 
work on the Ecuadorian Amazon parrot.

The zoo’s work with the Bermudan Government has 
continued strongly despite the complications of this year. We 
sent a further 10,000 greater Bermuda snails bred at Chester 
Zoo back to the island for reintroduction and also for the first 
time ever carried out a reintroduction of the related Lesser 
Bermuda snail; 800 of which were sent back to Bermuda for 
release. We hope to repeat this success with Bermuda skinks 
during 2021.  

Survey work in Mexico, looking for the Lake Patzcuaro 
salamander, yielded good news, with the population estimated 
at around 100 individuals; twice that of previous estimates.  
Nevertheless this species is still right on the edge of being lost 
forever and so the work we do to prevent its extinction is vital, 
including writing the guidelines for managing and breeding the 
species which we completed during 2020.

It was another landmark year for our Andean bears. In the 
zoo we started 2020 with the birth of twins; a first for us and 
the UK. The cubs have developed well and it is only a shame 

that more visitors haven’t been able to enjoy their playful 
antics during the year as a result of our periods of closure. We 
have managed to continue our survey work for the species, 
monitoring and maintaining camera traps as well as working 
with local communities in the Andes on alternative livelihoods 
such as bee keeping, in an effort to reduce conflict with bears 
in the region.

Bee keeping also figured in our Brazilian work this year, 
where a scheme to work with communities producing giant 
armadillo friendly honey has grown. Honey production comes 
into conflict with the animals when they raid the bee hives 
and so a community programme looking at ways to produce 
honey without conflict is important for the survival of the giant 
armadillo in the region. The same team we support in Brazil 
also completed their survey work on highways and anteaters, 
to better understand the causes and impacts of road 
mortalities on these and other species. It is now hoped to use 
this insight to create mitigation strategies to reduce mortalities 
and benefit the species concerned.

After first finding giant pangolins in Nigeria our giant pangolin 
research has been steadily increasing over the years and this 
year we camera trapped at four different Ugandan localities to 
monitor the species. At Ziwa Rhino Sanctuary, our main giant 
pangolin study site, we photographed them 87 times during 
the study at 16 different sites in the sanctuary.  Our camera 
trapping activities in Gabon were equally rewarding where our 
gorilla and large mammal survey captured over 5,000 images 
in just 30 days of a wide variety of species; we have now 
surveyed 800 km2 of this remote and previously un-surveyed 
forest.  For the third year in a row we had a chimpanzee born, 
the third young female into the group in just three years!

In the zoo we began our work with African vultures by 
bringing in the first African white-backed vulture and white-
headed vulture to the zoo, both are critically endangered 
species.  Vultures have been undergoing catastrophic declines 
over many African countries and four species are critically 

endangered with a further three species also declining and 
now threatened with extinction.  Ultimately they will form 
part of the new ‘Grasslands’ area of the zoo.  Building upon 
the last few years of training in East Africa we managed to 
support the Tanzania Forest Services again by carrying out 
butterfly surveys along the Sigi River in the East Usambara 
Mountains in March, just before travel became impossible due 
to Coronavirus restrictions.

The year saw the continuation of our highly successful breeding 
record with Eastern black rhinoceros, and another calf was born 
into our group at Chester Zoo.  We had great news from Kenya, 
learning that the support we give to Chyulu National Park has 
this year helped to achieve a zero rhino poaching year with not 
a single eastern black rhino dying during the year. The park has  
been declared as an Intensive Protection Zone for black rhinos; 
an important milestone in plans that may eventually see further 
black rhinos translocated into the national park.  

Despite less field work by our staff our Africa regional programme has had a very 
busy year. Our giraffe and okapi work has been exciting both in the zoo and the 
field this year; we were delighted to have our fourth birth of an okapi here at the 
zoo, the young female is doing well and is the culmination of 16 years of working 
with the species at Chester.  Our efforts to find an okapi population in Uganda 
have continued during 2020 with further camera trapping in Semuliki National Park 
and Toro-Semliki Wildlife Reserve, whilst we also assisted in surveying the Kidepo 
Rothschild’s giraffe population which is steadily increasing with 11 new births 
since last year. To support these and our other projects in Uganda we signed a 5 
year MOU/partnership agreement with the Uganda Wildlife Authority. 

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2020

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1: Preventing extinction by achieving the greatest conservation impact

chesterzoo.org  11
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MAINLAND 
ASIA

CONSERVING SPECIES OF 

chesterzoo.org  13

SOUTH EAST 
ASIAN ISLANDS

CONSERVING SPECIES OF 

Our Asian songbird work has carried on during the year both here in Chester 
and with our partners in the Cikananga Conservation Breeding centre on Java.  
We have focussed on looking in detail at the breeding and husbandry needs of 
Javan green magpie, investigating such factors as temperature, UV light and iron 
in the diet; eight chicks were reared from four pairs this year. Also on Java we 
progressed the action planning for Leptophryne toads; three species were worked 
upon including the critically endangered bleeding toad.

Our partners at the Katala Foundation in the Philippines 
continued conservation efforts on the critically endangered 
Philippine cockatoo. The population continues to increase with 
this year’s minimum estimate being 982 birds. Additionally 
more than 14,500 tree seedlings were planted to improve 
cockatoo foraging areas, especially a nearly 10 hectare block 
of degraded forest which will be improved by the planting.  
Elsewhere in the Philippines two species which have been a 
focus of work for Chester Zoo, the Philippine spotted deer and 
Visayan warty pig, were both reintroduced into the Danapa 
Nature Reserve on Negros. Both species are managed under 
breeding programmes with individuals kept and bred both at 
Chester (and some other European zoos) and in breeding 
centres in the Philippines.

The year marked the re-opening of the Monsoon Forest 
tropical house; a monumental task to make this habitat better 
than ever following the tragic fire at the end of 2018. Despite 

all the trials and tribulations of having to work under Covid-19 
restrictions, the house opened in the autumn with all the 
animals moved back from their temporary homes around 
the zoo, and the plants successfully restored to recreate the 
South-East Asian forest.  

This has allowed the Bornean orangutans and Lar gibbons to 
once again occupy all of Realm of the Red Ape. The Bornean 
orangutans had another baby during the year and the hope 
is that this group can slowly expand in the once again larger 
area available to them. On the island of Borneo planning 
and conservation work continued; the orangutan state action 
plan for the next 10 years was finished and endorsed by the 
government and a substantial tree planting and management 
programme continued despite the Covid-19 restrictions in 
place. HUTAN also continued their education programme 
with our support with a number of online resources being 
developed and used.

There was joy followed by sadness in the Hi-way family, our Asian elephant herd 
at Chester Zoo. At the end of February 15-year old mum Sundara gave birth to a 
healthy calf, a female which we named Riva. This was a welcome addition to our 
breeding herd and will boost our contribution to the conservation breeding for 
this species over the coming years.

Sadly, in September we lost our herd’s matriarch and 
great grandmother, Thi Hi-way, after an irreversible decline 
following her battle with arthritis. Thi had a huge impact on 
her family and on elephant conservation in general, not least 
via her involvement in studies throughout her life which have 
contributed to our knowledge and understanding of Asian 
elephants. She is missed by the herd and all who cared for 
her but her legacy lives on in the family she leaves behind.

In February a Chester Zoo team consisting of the head 
of our elephant team, one of our electricians and our field 
programme coordinator for Mainland Asia, travelled to 
Assam in India to work with our partners at the Wildlife Trust 
of India on our long-running Assam elephant project.  They 
held a number of stakeholder meetings with local villages to 
understand human-elephant conflict issues and worked with 
the local people to advise on the installation of elephant proof 
electric fencing as part of the strategy to deter elephants 
from crops. They also held a training programme for elephant 
watchers in villages adjacent to the Manas National Park, 
enabling the translation of our understanding of individual 
recognition and behaviour in our herd to better strategies for 
surveillance and safe deterrence in the wild.

Subsequently, despite the Covid-19 lockdown restrictions, 
local villagers have been able to install more fencing (now 
13km in total) and repair fences damaged by flash flooding 
during the monsoon season in July.  Elephant incursion 
attempts were largely unsuccessful with no breaches of the 
fence in more than 80% of cases, and there was no human 
injury, property damage or crop loss in the villages where 
we are working this year.   We were also able to support a 
number of the families involved in fence management who 
were suffering financial pressures due to lockdown.

We hold a number of important bird species from the 
dwindling montane forests of Asia and there were some 
notable breeding successes in 2020. These included two 
highly threatened Chinese endemic species, the Cabot’s 
tragopan (a type of pheasant) which successfully raised four 
chicks and the Omei Shan Liocichla (a small songbird) which 
raised three young.  In previous years our field support for 
Chinese nature reserves has benefitted these species in the 
wild so it is fitting that we are continuing to help prevent their 
extinction through our conservation breeding activities in  
the zoo.
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MADAGASCAR  
& MASCARENES

CONSERVING SPECIES OF 
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We also supported the production of a conservation action 
plan for another closely related frog species from the same 
region, the harlequin frog. One of our partners from MV 
enrolled as a new Conservation Scholar to conduct a research 
programme for this endangered species that will enable us to 
develop effective measures for its conservation.

Three new Madagascan species were added to the reptile 
and amphibian collection in 2020, the Madagascar reed frog, 
Western girdled lizard and Ibity ground gecko, and our Parson’s 
chameleons produced a good clutch of eggs which will be 
incubated for up to 18 months before they hatch. Another 
important Madagascan species at the zoo is the white-belted 
ruffed lemur and our spirits were lifted when one of our females 
had three babies, providing a timely boost to the international 

Despite Coronovirus restrictions, our 
conservation partners at Madagasikara 
Voakajy (MV) were able to undertake 
some necessary fieldwork in the 
Mangabe forest reserve and conduct 
the latest survey for the golden 
mantella frog. In total, 283 ponds 
were visited including eight newly 
discovered ponds during this field 
season and 2,615 individuals were 
encountered from 122 ponds.  70% of 
the ponds were found to be in a good 
state and suitable for the species, 
which is an increase compared to 
previous years. More camera traps were 
installed in the reserve and they have 
already identified one new location for 
the endangered aye-aye and confirmed 
the presence of fossa.

breeding programme for these critically endangered primates. 
We also had the successful birth of an endangered black lemur 
and our ring-tailed lemurs gave birth to twins, whilst off show 
our Malagasy narrow-striped mongoose  gave birth to young, a 
first breeding for us here at the zoo.

In Mauritius, a man-made disaster caused the biggest threat to 
wildlife in 2020 when on 25th July a cargo vessel ran aground 
on the reef in the South East of the island, just 2km from 
one of our supported projects at Isle aux Aigrettes.  By 6th 
August oil had begun leaking from the vessel into the lagoon 
threatening not just marine wildlife but also terrestrial species 
living close to where the oil was washed up on the shoreline.
With financial help from their supporters including ourselves, 
our partners at the Mauritius Wildlife Foundation (MWF) sprang 
into action and their teams removed 12 Olive white-eyes 
(20% of the known population), 6 Mauritius fodies, 5 Radiated 
tortoises, 54 Aldabra giant tortoises (<5 years old), 4 Mauritius 
fruit bats, and 4,000 plants to the mainland as a safety net in 
case the island became flooded with oil.  In total an estimated 
800 tonnes of oil leaked into the lagoon, but thankfully the 
remaining 3,000 tonnes on the ship was pumped out preventing 
further spills.  Many MWF staff were redeployed to support 
various clean-up and rescue operations throughout this time. 
The clean-up operation continues and it is anticipated that the 
rescued wildlife will be returned soon.

Elsewhere in Mauritius, the breeding season for the 
endangered echo parakeet was successful with over 300 
eggs laid and 230 chicks confirmed to have hatched to-date.  
Easing of travel restrictions later in the year has allowed a new 
Conservation Scholar to arrive in Mauritius and begin working 
with the echo parakeet team on her first field season.  

Meanwhile, in Rodrigues further work took place in the Grand 
Montagne Nature Reserve to restore the native flora, with 6,925 
seedlings of 24 native and endemic species planted, all of which 
were propagated in the MWF nursery. Counts of Rodrigues 
fruit bats also continued and MWF staff were able to use the 
increased time spent indoors due to Coronavirus restrictions 
to develop a new database to record in detail roost locations, 
extent, main vantage points and all known bat flight paths.
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UK & EUROPE
CONSERVING SPECIES OF 

Elsewhere on the wider zoo estate, we began work to improve 
the management of our field margins and hedgerows for wildlife 
after our successful application for Environmental Stewardship 
from Defra. Camera trap monitoring on the zoo estate during 
lock down has revealed a wealth of nocturnal species including 
polecat, badger and fox cubs, barn and tawny owls and the 
elusive woodcock. Some interesting predator-prey footage was 
also captured across a range of species and was shared on our 
Chester Zoo Science twitter feed.

Our Botany and Horticulture team continued their work with 
270 native trees and plants, nurturing them in polytunnels 
ready for planting out in the wild in 2021 in collaboration with 
local partner organisations. Species include scarce trees like 
black poplar and native whitebeam species, the endemic wild 
cotoneaster (confined to the Great Orme in north Wales) and 
our native bluebell which is sadly declining due to habitat loss 
and competition from imported non-native varieties.

Biological monitoring of the Chester Zoo nature reserve during the crucial spring 
period was disrupted by the first lockdown, but thanks to our partners at rECOrd 
we made up for lost time in the summer and completed surveys for flowering 
plants, birds, amphibians, dragonflies, butterflies and day-flying moths, bees, 
wasps and hoverflies. They revealed a continuing increase in biodiversity at the 
site with a total of 341 species identified of which 65 were new to the site (an 
increase on 2019 when the figures were 272 and 49 respectively).  Highlights 
included over 200 common toads gathering in the main pond to breed in March; 
12 species of dragonflies, with numbers representing a 49% increase since 2017; 
24 butterflies and day flying moths (up from 17 in 2019); and the first record for 
Cheshire of a nationally notable species of bee, Stelis phaeoptera. During the 
November lockdown an hour long Facebook live special was delivered from the 
nature reserve covering everything from pond life to camera traps and mammals 
as well as birds and galls. 

2020 was a significant year for the restoration of peatlands 
in the north-west of England as we continued to contribute to 
species reintroductions in these important habitats.  The Large 
heath butterfly project continued with further releases of 45 
pupae to suitable sites around Manchester in the summer, 
and through our partnership with the North West Rare Plants 
Initiative the success of previous reintroductions of carnivorous 
plants was revealed. After an absence of over 150 years, the 
great sundew is now firmly back in the Manchester Mosses 
following reintroduction in the previous year, with surveys 
in 2020 confirming the population had quadrupled in size. 
Even greater success was recorded for another carnivorous 
plant, the lesser bladderwort, when monitoring yielded a 
count of 200,000 individual plants across all sites, a massive 
increase after an initial reintroduction of just 60 plants in 2018. 
These successes led to local and national TV coverage and 
contributed to our main partner receiving environmental awards 
from the Liverpool Echo and the Chartered Institute of Ecology 
and Environmental Management. 

In the zoo we welcomed Britain’s only venomous snake, 
the adder, to our collection. These can be seen next to the 
sand lizards near to the exit from the aye ayes. We are also 
rearing one of Europe’s most threatened amphibians, the 
Montseny brook newt from northern Spain, and in 2020 they 
had a successful breeding season in preparation for planned 
reintroductions in the coming years. 

For the last six years we have supported the Vincent Wildlife 
Trust’s Pine Marten Recovery Project and in their final report 
they highlight its achievements. After the project translocated 
51 individuals from Scotland to Wales and subsequent 
monitoring revealed the birth of at least 36 kits (young) in the 
wild, the report concludes that a core pine marten population 
is now established in mid-Wales and is expanding north 
and south along well-connected woodland corridors. This 
is a fantastic achievement for one of our most charismatic 
mammals that is now returning to a region where it has been at 
extremely low levels for decades and we are proud of the part 
we have paid in preventing its extinction in Wales.
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Wildlife Health and Wellbeing Biodiversity survey and monitoring

At the end of the year we also had to deal with the threat of 
avian influenza which was diagnosed in birds very close to 
the zoo, compounded by all of the issues associated with staff 
biosecurity due to the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic.  In addition to 
all of the staff biosecurity measures to safeguard their health, 
we also introduced enhanced biosecurity as a precaution for 
other species of animals which might possibly be at risk from 
coronavirus, including primates, carnivores and our bats.
2020 was a productive year for scientific publications from 
Chester Zoo staff and scholars, including three significant 
ones on Asian elephants: a paper on their sleep behaviour; 
another on our successful treatment of a clinical EEHV case 
in Indali in 2019; and a PhD thesis on welfare from an in depth 
study of the Hi-way family.

Work on the health and genetics of mountain bongo centred 
on the Mount Kenya Wildlife Conservancy where large 
numbers of animals are kept and bred with the intention of 
conservation releases back onto Mount Kenya. One of our 
Conservation Scholars submitted his thesis on the genetics of 
this species and his research supports the Mountain Bongo 
Recovery and Action Plan. We hope the links we have forged 
during the year will see us more involved in this species 
in the future.  Unfortunately some of our normal capacity 
building activities had to be postponed, affecting both our staff 
travelling and also the number of visitors who we could host to 
train.  We look forward to hopefully expanding these activities 
again during 2021 if circumstances improve.

Some very diverse and numerous groups can be very 
challenging to survey and identify due to the sheer numbers 
of individuals recorded and the difficulties in identifying many 
very similar species.  In East Africa we again assisted in 
butterfly and moth surveys, using specially constructed netting 
traps and baits to catch tropical forest butterflies and specialist 
ultra-violet emitting lights to attract moths at night.
Camera trapping is a technique we use widely for capturing 
data on larger mammals and a number of studies have 
continued during the year at our field sites in Africa and Asia.  
In the Gabon continuation of our gorilla and large mammal 
survey produced large numbers of images of at least 30 
different mammal species, including Western lowland gorilla, 

chimpanzee, giant pangolin, white-bellied pangolin, forest 
elephant, leopard and the elusive Peter’s duiker; a very small 
antelope only occurring in a small part of equatorial Africa.  In 
Kenya camera traps were used to regularly monitor all eight 
of the Eastern black rhinos resident in Chyulu Hills National 
Park.

The post-release monitoring of thousands of Bermuda snails 
involved tiny numbers being affixed to the shells so that 
snails could be surveyed to help understand movement and 
mortality in released populations.  This detailed information 
is vital for refining techniques to be used in future release 
programmes.

All of the staff that work to safeguard the health and wellbeing of the animals 
under our care at Chester Zoo gain valuable skills and experience that not only 
contribute directly to conservation through the animals we keep, but can also 
be applied in many of our overseas programmes with our partners. At the zoo 
we have been studying the epidemiology and genetics of avian malaria amongst 
mosquitoes; a useful insight in determining successful prevention and treatment 
amongst birds in our breeding programmes and also its occurrence in wild birds. 

Survey work is often neglected and under resourced as organisations focus on 
human communities or threatened species actions. However, often it is essential 
to understand the biodiversity of an area and species abundance in order to be 
able to prioritise actions and focus attentions on the most urgent needs. Our staff 
possess many of these skills and experience to carry out this work and empower 
others to do the same. This has been difficult during 2020 as many of the planned 
activities to bring these skills to the field were postponed as travel restrictions 
swept around the world. Despite this, work has gone on early in the year and 
through the partners we work with in other countries.
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Human-Wildlife Conflict
Livelihoods and 
Sustainable 
Development 

Visitor & Community EngagementChester Zoo has been working on human-wildlife conflict 
and coexistence for two decades, working in partnership 
with the University of Oxford’s Wildlife Conservation 
Research Unit (WildCRU). Our senior conservation fellow, 
Alex Zimmermann, who leads this partnership, published 
an important paper on this topic in 2020 in the journal 
Conservation Science and Practice. Using examples from 
some of our own conservation projects, the paper proposes 
a hierarchy of three levels of conflict from disputes, 
through to underlying and deep-rooted conflict.  Ideas 
from international relations and peacekeeping are used to 
propose long-term solutions. This paper is expected to make 
a significant contribution to designing policies and practices 
for human-wildlife conflict resolution throughout the world. 

Our long-standing support for the Anteaters and Highways 
project in Brazil has contributed to the completion of data 
gathering to understand the causes and impacts of wildlife 
mortality on highways, and the team are now preparing 
to convert their data into mitigation strategies. They have 
been able to calculate the financial cost of wildlife collisions 
to the local economy and use this to estimate how quickly 
the costs of implementing mitigation measures along the 
highways could be paid off. This is helping to inform local 
authorities responsible for introducing measures to protect 
both drivers and animals such as anteaters from collision.

In Bolivia, where we are working to protect Andean bears, 
an alternative livelihoods programme enabled participants 
to continue maintaining their community apiaries during 
lock down, allowing 1 tonne of honey to be harvested 
by the end of 2020.  This has proved vital in maintaining 
incomes and reducing the impact of local communities on 
the surrounding forest which is an important habitat for the 
bears and other species.

In Brazil where we are supporting our partners to protect the 
giant armadillo the problem had been armadillos destroying 
the hives to raid the honey, but working with beekeepers 
to find safe ways of protecting the hives has led to six 
beekeepers becoming certified to produce giant armadillo-
friendly honey, with more expected in 2021. Work also 
began on preparing an app to help beekeepers to monitor 
their hives and collect data for a research study.

Our work on promoting sustainable palm oil continued despite 
the lockdowns and we were able to support a number of 
other towns and cities who are preparing to join Chester and 
become sustainable palm oil cities through procurement of 
products from sustainable sources by local businesses. A 
grant from Ferrero UK enabled us to appoint a sustainable 
palm oil city officer to continue this work into 2021.

We were therefore delighted to be able to publish our 
latest research on this in the Journal of Zoo and Aquarium 
Research in 2020 from a study of 445 students in seven of 
our participating schools. Results showed a 60.5% increase 
in understanding of conservation and a 24% increase 
in knowledge of pro-conservation behaviours as well as 
positive attitudes towards conservation self-efficacy. The 
study demonstrates how effectively repeat engagement in-
school activities can achieve improvements in conservation 
awareness and contribute towards our mission.  Although 
actual visits to schools by our safari rangers were curtailed 

Our safari ranger programme has 
been running for over 10 years now 
and objective evaluation has been an 
important component to ensure that 
we design our workshops in ways that 
achieve the maximum possible impact. 
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Human-wildlife conflict is one of 
the most widespread and pressing 
conservation challenges today. It 
presents a serious concern not only 
for many species but also affects 
millions of people in almost every 
country, putting at risk the livelihoods 
and safety of many communities 
around the world. 

We support and promote using 
nature to find more sustainable ways 
of making a living for people living 
alongside wildlife in a number of our 
field projects. One potential source of 
income comes from honey production 
through the promotion of bee keeping 
which has proved successful in 
several Latin American projects. 

during lockdowns in 2020, our education outreach continues 
through virtual school visits, enabling us to adapt this 
important work.

Our conservation social scientists were commissioned by 
the Disney Foundation and WAZA to evaluate their Nature 
Connect programme. This has funded over 50 zoo-based 
projects globally to increase family connectedness to nature, 
increase time spent in nature, and integrate pro-nature 
behaviours into day-to-day life. This included our own family 
wildlife club project which was supported by the fund and 
worked with 146 people from 53 families who together took 
over 620 positive actions to support biodiversity.  Looking at 
all the projects worldwide, our researchers found positive, 
significant changes in participants’ connection to nature 
between pre- and post-tests, demonstrating the value of 
zoo engagement with families. They are now preparing to 
publish this work in 2021.  Through this work the team have 
developed new research tools that we will use in future to 
evaluate more of our own engagement projects. 
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OUR ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2020

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 2: Preventing extinction by being a world class visitor attraction
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Health & Safety

The pandemic has presented opportunities for the Safety 
Team in relation to bringing health and safety to the forefront 
of everyone’s minds, the need to provide practical solutions 
to operational challenges and being seen to be enablers with 
increased visibility across the organisation.   

A lot of focus has been on supporting the zoo with its Covid-19 
response making sure it is robust and effective. A good 
connection with Cheshire West and Chester Council (CWAC) 
has been important when communicating the measures taken 
to mitigate the transmission risk of Covid-19 at the zoo.

A new health and safety policy was signed off by the 
Executive and Trustees which establishes greater clarity 
in terms of roles and responsibilities moving forward. 

Although Covid-19 has had a significant 
impact and provided exceptional 
challenges from a health and safety 
perspective, there has been good 
progress against areas of focus set out 
in the 2019 Annual H&S Review.

Communication and roll out has begun which will support the 
H&S safety development plan delivery in 2021.

Progress has also been made in 2020 in improving fire safety 
management across the organisation. The importance of the 
work of the Fire Safety Advisor was acknowledged and the 
role was not furloughed in the first national lockdown due to 
the requirement to continue with the programme of Fire Risk 
Assessments (FRAs) in compliance with current fire safety 
legislation.

Covid-19 Response

Multiple Covid-19 controls and contingencies were developed 
across the organisation. They included an organisational 
Covid-19 risk assessment, which has been regularly updated. 
Importantly Covid-19 was formally incorporated within the 
Society’s governance framework with the addition of a COVID 
Policy issued to all employees in July 2020. This was updated 
and re-circulated in October 2020 with the introduction of 
additional responsibilities for some roles in line with legislative 
requirements within the Health Protection (Coronavirus) 
Regulations 2020. 

Throughout the year, key document and modules were maintained:
• Covid-19 Tracker
• Covid-19 Policy
• Operational Rationale
• Organisational Covid-19 Risk Assessment
• Departmental Covid-19 Risk Assessments
• Covid-19 All Employee Induction

In addition the fundamental operational measure to ensure 
both a safe and enjoyable experience for visitors has been the 
deployment of the Welcome Team at indoor spaces and key 
locations throughout the zoo. Adopting a “One Team” approach, 
colleagues across all divisions and at all levels have helped 
with this.

Our Covid-19 tracker is the record of all significant Covid-19 
events including legislative/guidance updates along with the 
organisation’s response. 

The Operational Rationale which has been in place since the 
zoo first re-opened in June 2020 sets out the overarching 
methodology and approach to mitigating the Covid-19 
transmission risk and operational plans. The Rationale (and 
its updates) have been sent to the local authority as well as 
NEZS Insurers along with the Organisational Covid-19 Risk 
Assessment. 

A Covid-19 Induction was initially delivered as a live webinar 
and placed on the internal intranet for employees to access 
afterwards. Following a number of legislative and operational 
changes all employees were asked to complete an updated 
version via e-learning.
Cheshire West & Chester Council Environmental Health 
Officers accepted an invitation to visit the zoo prior to  

re-opening in June 2020 and were given a tour to see the 
range of safety and control measures in place. Following the 
visit Cheshire West & Chester Council sent a letter confirming 
the zoo’s plans were robust and expressing confidence that the 
public health risk would be controlled.  

In addition to the above, the main Employee and Visitor 
Covid-19 mitigation measures that have been implemented 
are set out below. A Directors/Senior Managers Group has 
convened regularly since the start of the pandemic to manage 
the Covid-19 situation within the organisation initiating and 
supervising a range of measures, which included:
• Work from home where possible
• Travel and face to face meetings restricted
• Office one-way systems
• Designated Team Rest/Welfare spaces
• Team splitting and Team pairings
• Issue of face coverings
• Enhanced cleaning schedules implemented and records kept
• Regular communications from the CEO/COO to all 

employees since the start of the pandemic
• Applicable COVID-Secure guidance has been followed
• Sector specific guidance considered and followed where 

appropriate (British and Irish Association of Zoos and 
Aquariums / Association of Leading Visitor Attractions / UK 
Hospitality)

• “Visit Safely” section and Visitor Charter on the zoo’s website
• Restricted numbers in the zoo each day
• Toilets and indoor spaces capacity managed (by Staff)
• Welcome Team Pack and training rolled out
• Daily (pre-opening) briefings
• Pre-booking only for Standard (non-member) visitors
• Members booking at peak times (Summer, School Holidays)
• Visitor and Member FAQs on the website
• Visit video on website
• “Staying COVID Secure” confirmation/certificate published on 

website (signed by CEO)
• VisitEngland “We’re Good To Go” accreditation
• Pre-visit emails
• NHS Test and Trace compliant
• Monitoring of household mixing and “Rule of 6”
• Regular tannoy safety announcements across the zoo
• Big screen messaging at zoo entrance
• Dedicated Forecourt Manager at entrance
• Signage / Screens / Floor markings / One-way systems

Our response to Covid-19 began early in 2020, ensuring that we were able to protect 
both our team, and our visitors.
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Our Sustainable Zoo 

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions 15,067,759 
kWh

Emissions from combustion of gas Scope 1 1,090 tCO2e
Emissions from combustion of LPG Scope 1 161 tCO2e
Emissions from combustion of oil products Scope 1 333 tCO2e
Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport 
purposes

Scope 1 42 tCO2e

Emissions from refrigerants Scope 1 15 tCO2e
Emissions from purchased electricity Scope 2 1,486 tCO2e
Emissions from water supply and treatment Scope 3 182 tCO2e
Emissions from transmissions and grid losses Scope 3 128 tCO2e
Emissions from air & rail travel Scope 3 100 tCO2e
Total tCO2e based on the above emissions 3,537 tCO2e

As an indication of the intensity of the Society’s carbon footprint, based on the 
above data the following ratios have been calculated:

kgCO2 per zoo visitor 2.99 
kgCO2 per acre of zoo land (excludes the Society’s wider land holding) 22,104

Energy efficiency actions

During 2020 we undertook a number of maintenance and operational projects which 
look to reduce our energy and carbon usage, improving our sustainability.

We started a programme to install sensor taps to minimise water usage across 
public toilet facilities, and re-engineered our boat ride water supplies so we can 
use the existing water to refill the channel. In our penguin pool we upgraded the 
plantroom filtration system to reduce the amount of water changes required and we 
upgraded our fish kitchen to change the fish thawing process, saving large volumes 
of water.

We’re in the process of changing our fleet vehicles from diesel to electric and we’ve 
installed more electric vehicle charging points, plus additional infrastructure to add 
more. We are installing more solar bollards to pedestrian pathways within the zoo 
to provide our external lighting, and over the last two years we’ve been changing 
to LED lighting. As our gas boilers become due for replacement we’re upgrading to 
more efficient models.

Our buildings are seeing energy efficient improvements too – we’ve added 
insulation to the monkey house to improve the thermal property and save heating 
costs and energy; and replaced part of the roof of the tropical house, again 
improving light quality and thermal performance.

The Society’s energy usage, and carbon footprint, within the United Kingdom for 
the year ended 31st December 2020 is set out below. This usage includes Scope 1, 2 
and, to some extent, scope 3 emissions data.

tCO2e by type of energy consumption

Emissions from purchased electricity 1,486

Emissions from combustion of gas 1,090

Emissions from combustion of oil 
products 333

Emissions from water supply and 
treatment 182

Emissions from combustion of LPG 161

Emissions from transmissions and 
grid losses 128

Emissions from air & rail travel 100

Emissions from combustion of fuel 
for transport purposes 42

Emissions from refrigerants 15

The Re-opening of Monsoon Forest 

Monsoon Forest is the UK’s largest indoor animal exhibit 
and the reinstatement works were very complex. In addition 
to destruction of Tripa Research Station and the roof to the 
southern half of the building, much smoke damage occurred 
throughout the main structure.

By the end of 2019 the whole roof had been replaced and 
the building made weathertight once again. Early 2020 saw 
the reconstruction of all services and heating; ventilation 
and other systems were linked back into the plant room 
equipment which had remained relatively unscathed.
 
The generosity of the public in the days and weeks following 
the fire supported improvements in the habitats and 
facilities for the species most affected: an additional aviary 
adjacent for the Rhinoceros hornbills’ aviary, a new exhibit 
within Tripa Research Station currently housing Emerald 
tree skinks and Vampire crabs, improvements to Primate 
facilities – including the addition of feeders to simulate 
natural foraging and provide enrichment and improvements 
to netting and containment for the free flight birds area.
 
We also extracted over 1600 tonnes of soil and substrates 
and reinstated fresh material into the building to improve 
the soil composition and to deepen the planted beds to 
achieve better plant growth and more suitable conditions 
for the free flight birds. The Nursery team designed the 
planting and identified over 2,000 specimens required to 
replace what had been lost.

When the first Covid-19 lockdown occurred, the combined 
efforts of zoo staff and the UK contractor saw batched delivery 
of hundreds of very large trees which had to be lifted up to 8 
metres off the ground and located precisely and in a specific 
planting sequence. The whole exercise was completed in 2 
months and has delivered an interior landscape that looks very 
mature after only 3 months’ growth.

Simultaneously, keeping staff and curators were fitting out 
enclosures, maturing environments and making general 
preparations prior to bringing each species over to Monsoon 
Forest. Throughout September and into October animals were 
reintroduced into their environments and monitored before the 
building re-opened to the public on 24 October 2020.

Additional Projects Within the Zoo
The removal of the monorail started at the end of 2019 and 
continued in early 2020 with the demolition of the two stations 
and lengths of track adjacent to the Madagascar walkthrough 
and the stables lawn area. Work was put on hold at Easter 
2020 due to the zoo being closed and uncertainty of funding, as 
a result of the pandemic.

The new facilities management building located alongside 
the A41 was completed in early 2020. This will allow the 
refurbishment of the grade 2 listed stable block to complement 
the zoo’s heritage zone, located alongside The Oakfield, once 
our Strategic Development Plan re-starts and funding allows.

The construction of the Latin American Wetland Aviary 
was severely delayed due to Covid-19 and prioritisation of 
resources elsewhere. It is planned for opening in spring 2021.

Following the fire in December 2018 it has taken 22 months to restore Monsoon 
Forest and re-open the building to the public.
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Our Work on EEHV

Thanks to the incredible generosity of so many donors to our 
‘Never Forget’ campaign, we have been able to work with top 
experts at the University of Surrey and the Animal & Plant 
Health Agency to study this virus. After four years of research 
we now have more effective treatments and we are tantalisingly 
close to developing the first vaccine to protect elephants 
against the lethal effects of EEHV.

Vaccination is the method of choice for prevention of viral 
disease in most species. The inability to culture EEHV in 
the laboratory has, to date, prevented the development of 
traditional live-attenuated or inactivated vaccines. However, 
advances in DNA technologies, similar to those used to develop 
Covid-19 vaccines, have opened new perspectives for EEHV 
vaccine development. 

Immunity against herpesviruses particularly relies on the 
activation of a crucial part of the immune system, namely the T 
cells. After many months of research, we have narrowed down 
a number of antigens (proteins produced by EEHV) that we 
believe will be the most effective in producing a T cell immune 
response. We have also found a safe vector which is a version 
of another virus that can be modified to carry elements of the 
EEHV DNA and stimulate the elephant’s T cells into producing 
an immune response. The production of an effective vaccine 
requires development and testing of successive versions of the 

vaccine in order to come up with the combination of antigens 
producing the best immune response. 

The first version of this vaccine combination has been chosen 
(V1) and is currently in production and we are hoping to trial 
the V1 vaccine during 2021 and test its efficacy at eliciting an 
immune response in adult elephants. The next step then is 
to repeat the process with a V2 vaccine containing two new 
antigens. V1 and  V2 will then be compared and the antigens 
eliciting the best response will be used for the production of the 
final version of the vaccine. 

We will also be looking to develop additional novel tests that 
will improve our knowledge of the elephant immune system and 
its response. This will add to and improve our ability to assess 
elephants’ immune response and ensure the production of the 
most potent vaccine. 

We hope that a maximum of three rounds of antigen selection 
and optimisation should suffice to create an effective vaccine 
that elicits an immune response and prevents EEHV induced 
haemorrhagic disease in elephants. Ironically the fight against 
another deadly virus, Covid-19, has held up EEHV vaccine 
development and testing during 2020 but we are hopeful that 
we can resume the vital testing work in 2021 and find a lasting 
solution to controlling this disease.

Elephant Endotheliotropic Herpes Virus (EEHV) is a potentially lethal virus that 
causes fatal haemorrhagic disease in up to 80% of elephants that contract it, with 
serious consequences on herds like ours at Chester.  Until a few years ago very 
little was known about the elephant’s immune response to this virus and effective 
treatments and vaccines were a distant dream.

Conservation Breeding and Management

Despite these our conservation breeding and management 
activities within the zoo carried on largely as normal, with the 
needs of our animals paramount despite the difficulties at 
times.  All of the conservation breeding programmes in which 
we participate carried on despite Covid-19, and whilst moving 
animals in and out of Chester was challenging at times our 
breeding success reflects the continued high standards of 
health and care during 2020.

This year brought many unforeseen 
challenges, especially biosecurity and 
travel and movement restrictions which 
affected many of our normal activities 
and of course our ability to open to our 
visitors.

New births and hatchings in our Asian elephants, Eastern 
black rhinos, Western chimpanzees, Bornean orangutans, 
Visayan warty pigs, okapi, great green macaws, Mexican leaf 
frogs, Lake Titicaca frogs, Montseny brook newts, Bermuda 
skinks, Chinese crocodile lizards and many other species 
show just how much was achieved in all these programmes 
that are critical for preventing extinction of these species and 
preserving options for future conservation action both in the 
zoo and/or the wild.

We again pioneered work at the interface of ex situ and in 
situ conservation, contributing to species action planning, 
such as the bleeding toad and harlequin frog, which sets the 
road map for future conservation.  Whilst despite the huge 
difficulties with movement of animals and people we carried 
out reintroductions for large heath butterfly, greater Bermuda 
snail and for the first time ever, a lesser Bermuda snail.
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OUR ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2020

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 3: Preventing extinction by providing exceptional animal and plant care
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Financial Review 2020 

Total income including donations and grants for 2020 was 
£36.1m, a reduction of £11.3m from 2019’s underlying income 
of £47.4m (2019 total income of £55.1m included £7.7m of 
exceptional income receivable from insurers in respect of the 
Monsoon Forest fire).

Expenditure for 2020 was £36.0m, a reduction of £7.5m 
on 2019’s underlying expenditure of £43.5m (2019: total 
expenditure of £44.4m included £0.9m of exceptional costs 
relating to the Monsoon Forest fire).

With the reduction in income greater than the reduction in 
expenditure, reflecting the level of the zoo’s fixed cost base, 
the Society reported a net £0.1m increase in funds for 2020 
significantly lower than the £10.8m increase in funds reported 
for 2019, which included a £6.8m net increase in respect of 
the Monsoon Forest fire insurance claim.

Without the generous support of the public through the Save 
Our Zoo campaign (£3.3m), animal adoptions which reached 
record levels (£1.2m) and membership support during periods 

of closure (£2.8m), together with the government’s Job 
Retention Scheme grant (£1.8m) the Society would have 
recorded a significant deficit for 2020. We are incredibly 
grateful for this support.

Incoming resources

The majority of the Society’s income comes from the zoo’s 
visitors and members, in the form of admissions and other 
charges.

Having reached a record 2,086,785 in 2019, visitor numbers 
for 2020 fell by 43% to 1,182,652. In 2020 36% of visits were 
made by members (2019: 34%). 

Having risen consistently year on year for over 10 years, 
membership numbers fell by 8% to 120,539 (2019: 129,483) 
during the year. We are incredibly grateful to those members 
who continued to support the zoo financially during a very 
difficult period.

Our winter Lanterns event, which was due to start in 
November, was delayed until December and with reduced 
capacity attracted 77,000 visitors (2019: 111,000 visitors). 
There was a significant decrease in the number of education 
visitors, with 33,000 visiting compared to 132,000 in the 
previous year. Of those visits 27,000 visited for free (2019: 
42,000) in the winter months under an initiative launched in 
2017. 

Total visitor related income for 2020, which includes 
admission fees and membership income, fell by 32% to 
£20.7m (2019: £30.6m).

The financial performance of the Society for the year ended 31st December 2020 
was significantly impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. The zoo was closed for 
almost four months during 2020, and for the vast majority of the time it was open, 
visitor numbers and hence income, were constrained.

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2020

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 4: Preventing extinction by ensuring financial stability

As a registered charity the Society generates voluntary 
income from visitor donations, Gift Aid, animal adoptions, 
grants, legacies and other donations. Donations and Gift Aid 
on general admission fell by 37% to £1.8m (2019: £2.9m) 
reflecting both the reduction in visitor numbers and also a 
move to require all visitors to book tickets online where the 
propensity to donate and Gift Aid reduces.

Fundraising income, which includes animal adoptions, grants, 
legacies and other donations increased significantly to £5.4m 
(2019: £1.2m).  

During the first lockdown the Society launched a Save Our 
Zoo campaign and raised £3.3m. We were overwhelmed by 
the level of public support and generosity at a time when the 
majority of the zoo’s sources of income had stopped.
Animal adoption income rose to £1.2m (2019: £0.3m) with 
over 22,000 adopters supporting the zoo and its work.

The Society’s trading subsidiary, Chester Zoo Enterprises 
Limited, which provides retail and food & beverage offerings 
across the Zoo site had a income of £6.8m in 2020 (2019: 
£12.7m), having been significantly impacted by the periods 
of closure and limits on visitor numbers and the restrictions 
around indoor restaurant space.

Resources expended

In 2019 the Society spent £36.0m (2019: £43.5m, excluding 
£0.9m of exceptional costs relating to the Monsoon Forest 
fire). These figures do not include capital expenditure. Due 
to the reduction in income the Society undertook a review of 
its expenditure during 2020 and reduced spend across the 
organisation, including the funding for charitable activities.

 Visitor admission income & events
 Membership
 Animal adoptions
 Job retention scheme
 Donations
 Food, beverage & retail income

2019 income excludes income from Monsoon Forest fire insurance claim

Our Income £m

2019

2020

 Animal & plant collection
 Conservation science & education
 Food, beverage & retail costs
 Fundraising

2019 expenditure excludes costs related to the Monsoon Forest fire

Our Expenditure £m

2019

2020
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Resources expended on our charitable activities, including the 
costs of maintaining the animal and plant collection, the visitor 
facilities, science and education and our field conservation 
programmes, together with related support costs totalled 
£28.4m (2019: £31.3m).  In addition we spent £0.5m (2019: 
£0.4m) generating our voluntary income.

Chester Zoo Enterprises Limited had costs of £7.1m (2019: 
£11.8m), excluding £0.3m of rents paid to the Society (2019: 
£0.7m). An agreement was reached with the Society to reduce 
the level of rent payable during the periods of zoo closure and 
restricted visitor numbers. Chester Zoo Enterprises made an 
operating loss of £0.6m in 2020 (2019: operating surplus of 
£0.2m). 

By far the biggest element of operating expenditure (2020: 
£16.0m, 2019: £18.1m) is the Society’s payroll cost for its 
employees, who all work towards our mission of preventing 
extinction. After closure of the zoo for 3 months in early 2020 
the Society undertook a cost reduction exercise which led to 
47 employees leaving our employment. The vast majority of 
these employees left under a voluntary arrangement, with 
5 compulsory redundancies. There was also a significant 
reduction in the number of staff employed under a seasonal 
contract during the year.  Our average Full Time Equivalent 
(FTE) headcount for 2020 was 502 compared with 618 in 2019. 
In 2020 over half of these employees worked directly in support 
of the Society’s charitable objectives, either with our animal and 
plant collection or in education, science and research.

Capital expenditure

As the zoo closed under the first lockdown in March 2020, a 
stop was put on any capital expenditure other than projects 
that had already commenced and were part complete.

Of the £7.5m spent in 2020 (2019: £20.4m) £5.7m related 
to the rebuild of the Monsoon Forest and construction of 
buildings to house animals displaced by the fire which 
happened in late 2018. The development of a new Latin 
American Wetland Aviary continued and the construction of a 
new maintenance facility was completed.

Borrowings, investments and reserves 

It is the general policy of the Society to apply towards its 
charitable objectives as much funding as it reasonably can, to 
avoid accumulating excessive reserves.  Where considered 
appropriate and being mindful not to overcommit the Charity, 
borrowings are undertaken to fund elements of significant 
capital projects.

In setting its reserves policy the Society takes account of its 
continuing financial commitments in terms of staffing and 
overheads including the costs of maintaining the animal 
and plant collection and funding its charitable activities. 
The Society also considers the risk that its income for any 
particular year may be impacted by a number of factors 
outside the Society’s control such as periods of prolonged 

wet weather at peak visitor times, competition from other 
visitor attractions, social trends, varying levels of economic 
prosperity and employment, alongside the potential for 
closure of the zoo to visitors due to the outbreak of contagious 
disease. The impact of this final risk has been highlighted 
during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Having considered these factors, and reflecting on the impact 
of Covid-19, the Society increased the level of minimum 
available cash reserves it maintains to £3.8m (2019: £1.9m) 
which are supplemented by a minimum £1.9m of undrawn 
committed borrowing facilities (2019: £0.5m). Such reserves 
being sufficient for the zoo to operate without significant 
curtailment of its activities for a period of up to three months in 
the unlikely event of no income being received. 

At the end of 2020 the Society had borrowed £9.2m and had 
£5.8m of cash reserves, including £1.7m of cash reserves 
held in escrow for the defined benefit pension scheme (2019: 
£12.1m borrowings and £4.8m of cash reserves). At 31st 
December 2020 the Society’s borrowing facility comprised a 
£22m unsecured revolving credit facility, which is in place until 
April 2025 and a £2.0m overdraft facility which is renewable 
annually in August. At 31 December 2020 the Society had 
access to £14.8m of undrawn borrowings and £4.0m of cash 
reserves (excluding the escrow account).

Pensions

The Society’s defined benefit pension scheme was closed to 
future accrual in 2012 and at 31 December 2020 reported a 
surplus of £3.8m under FRS102 (2019: £3.3m). During 2020, 
the Pension Trustees agreed to defer a further £1.0m transfer 
of funds into the escrow account held by the Society. The 
account, which had a balance of £1.8m at 31st December 
2020 is to be used, if required, to fund a buyout of the 
scheme, when the scheme liabilities would be fully secured 
with an insurer. The reported surplus, which excludes the 
amount held in the escrow account, is not recognised in the 
financial statements as the Society cannot gain economic 
benefit from it. Any surplus in the escrow account after a 
buyout will be returned to the Society.

The Society now operates a defined contribution scheme 
which is open to all employees. For permanent employees 
who contribute 3% or more, the Society makes a contribution 
that is 2% more than the employee contribution up to a 
maximum of 9%. Qualifying seasonal employees are enrolled 
into the NEST pension scheme with contributions in line with 
government rates.

Restricted and Designated Funds

Restricted income funds derive from donations, grants and 
legacies received and are put towards a variety of specific 
capital projects and conservation activities. Unrestricted 
income funds may be designated or freely available for the 
Society’s general charitable purposes.
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After setting aside restricted income funds, the Society keeps 
a minimum cash deposit of £3.8m set aside as a free reserve. 
The balance of available funds at the balance sheet date are 
designated as follows:

• to the defined benefit pension scheme; where the Society 
has a strategy to move the scheme towards a buy-out with 
an insurer in the medium term;

• to funds that could only be realised by disposing of fixed 
assets held for charitable use, up to a maximum of the net 
book value of those fixed assets at the balance sheet date. 

The Trustees do not consider it necessary to retain income 
in respect of the Society’s designated fund activities. 
Whilst these funds have been earmarked by the Trustees 
for particular purposes or uses, they are not committed or 
restricted legally. 

At 31 December 2020 the Society had total funds employed 
of £61.5m (2018: £61.4m) of which £2.2m (2019: £7.7m) were 
restricted, £3.8m were free (2019: £1.9m) and the balance of 
£55.5m (2019: £51.8m) were designated.
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Job roles within the zoo are incredibly diverse; ranging from 
keepers to chefs, scientists, accountants and retail assistants. 
As measures were put in place to ensure a COVID secure 
site, employees from all departments came together to 
undertake Welcome Team shifts. Customer service and the 
health and safety of our visitors were our key focus as we 
reminded our visitors to socially distance, wear face coverings 
in indoor animal houses and hand sanitise regularly. 

Furloughing large quantities of staff for long periods of time 
whilst the zoo was closed to reduce overheads has been 
hard for those involved, both physically and mentally. We kept 
in touch with our staff on a very regular basis, however we 
know how hard this has been for many. Equally, it has been 
challenging for those staff who have been continuing to work 
during periods of lockdown, working with our collection and 
supporting our mission. Whilst we were open, helping provide 
reassurance as well as guiding our visitors and members to 
remain Covid-19 secure has been equally testing.

Job Retention Scheme

The zoo had two periods of temporary closure during 2020 
due to Covid-19 and so the Job Retention Scheme was fully 
utilised with employees furloughed and an application to 
HMRC to cover a portion of the monthly wage costs. When 
flexi furlough arrangements were made available later in the 
year, this was also utilised to enable employees to work a 
reduced number of hours and be placed on furlough leave for 
the remainder. The group received £1.8 million through the 
Job Retention Scheme in 2020.

Wellbeing

We have continued to support the wellbeing of employees 
during 2020.  Regular communications have been provided 
to all staff with clear guidance around the process in relation 
to Covid-19 and self-isolation, along with regular promotion of 
the Hands, Face, Space messaging.
 
Further communications have regularly been provided to all 
staff which signpost to various resources relating to areas 
impacted by Covid-19, e.g. supporting those who were 
adjusting to working from home, supporting those who were 
furloughed.  We also continued to remind and encourage 
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Volunteering

Our People

Following reopening in June, visitor engagement volunteers 
played a key role providing a safe welcome to guests as 
part of the welcome team. Between them, they spent almost 
8,000 hours engaging visitors and helping promote social 
distancing measures across the zoo. During closures, and 
throughout the year where volunteers were not able to return 
to visitor facing roles for health and other reasons, new digital 
volunteering opportunities were introduced. 40 volunteers 
donated 267 hours to these micro-volunteering activities 
including helping to categorise resources, fact-checking 
signage and taking action for wildlife in their own spaces and 
communities. 

Using a combination of digital and in-person volunteering 
opportunities when possible, eight students completed their 
Duke of Edinburgh volunteering with us during the year. 

Our volunteers continued to provide fantastic support to the zoo during the year, 
with 231 people volunteering 14,383 hours of their time to zoo activities, as well as 
getting involved in fundraising and supporting the zoo’s conservation campaigns. 

Over 500 people were employed at peak season 2020, with a headcount of 576 
(475 permanent, 19 fixed term and 82 seasonal) employees in the organisation. In 
comparison, over 1,000 people were employed during peak season 2019.

Headcount by department

Science & Field Programmes - 4%
People Team - 2%

Collections - 25%

Commercial Operations - 43%

Conservation, Education 
& Engagement - 6%

Directorate - 1%

Facilities &  
Development - 6%

Finance
4%

IT
3%

Marketing
6%

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2020

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 5: Preventing extinction by developing our people

employees to access further support from their Line Manager, 
the People Team or Staff Association where required along 
with promotion of utilising the Medicash EAP helpline.
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Equal Opportunities
This policy applies to all aspects of our relationship with 
staff and to relations between staff members at all levels. 
This includes job advertisements, recruitment and selection, 
training and development, opportunities for promotion, 
conditions of service, pay and benefits, conduct at work, 
disciplinary and grievance procedures, and termination of 
employment.

As a large charity, the Society publishes a Gender Pay Gap 
report, the results of which highlight the equal opportunities 
available regardless of gender. Details of the report can be 
found at www.chesterzoo.org. 

The Society is an equal opportunities 
employer and is committed to promoting 
equal opportunity for all staff and job 
applicants. The Society has an equal 
opportunities policy and does not 
discriminate against staff on the basis of 
their gender, sexual orientation, marital or 
civil partner status, gender reassignment, 
race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national 
origin, religion or belief, disability or age.Learning and Development

351 individual learning experiences have taken place 
during 2020, ranging from WorldHost “Ambassador” 
customer service training, the Line Manager 

Development Programme to Level 3 Safeguarding Awareness 
for our Designated Safeguarding Leads and Officers. 

3,037 e-learning courses were completed across 
the organisation in a variety of topics 
including GDPR, Computer Security, CDM, 

Food Safety, COSHH, Modern Slavery and Fire Safety.

WorldHost Customer Service
 
Following a review of the WorldHost “Ambassador” customer 
service training, which was delivered to 399 new and 
seasonal employees in 2019, we worked in partnership with 
People1st to design a new bespoke course for Chester Zoo 
employees in visitor facing roles. 

The first session was delivered to 31 employees in 
February and a plan was in place to deliver to more than 
500 employees throughout the spring and summer months. 
Unfortunately no further sessions could take place due to 
national lockdown and temporary closure of the zoo.  
 
 
“Be the Best” Line Manager Development 
Programme
 
This programme was launched in January following a 
successful pilot in December 2019.
 
We developed a comprehensive 12 month plan to deliver the 
programme to over 100 employees from grades 7 – 11 with 

direct line management responsibilities (plus assistant team 
managers). Our first cohort successfully completed all three 
modules. Cohort two completed modules one and two but 
unfortunately the programme was halted in mid-March. This 
programme will be rolled out virtually in 2021.

Safeguarding Training
 

20 employees from across the organisation have been 
identified as Designated Safeguarding Leads (2) or 
Designated Safeguarding Officers (18). 

They completed an eLearning course before attending a full 
day virtual training session (Level 3 Safeguarding Children 
and Adults) during the November lockdown period. The 
sessions were delivered by Cheshire West and Chester 
County Council Safeguarding Partnership. 

This will continue in 2021 as 60 employees will complete the 
Level 2 course.
 
eLearning

3,037 courses were completed across the 
organisation in a variety of topics including 
GDPR, Computer Security, CDM, Food 

Safety, COSHH, Modern Slavery and Fire Safety.  
 
This figure includes 580 employees and interns who have 
completed the bespoke Covid-19 Awareness eLearning 
course written by the Health & Safety team and designed by 
the Learning & Development team.
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Keeper for a day

This year, however, as for so many areas of our life and work, 
has been an extremely challenging year for the scheme. As 
the pandemic threat became more apparent February and 
March saw the zoo repatriating all staff in the field, and there 
has been no international travel for fieldwork since (Keeper 
for a Day related or otherwise). Furthermore, the scheme’s 
income, was also curtailed through zoo closures and Covid-19 
risk management.

A few fortunate travellers were able to make it to the field 
in early 2020 though! Three of these were to Uganda 
participating in our giant pangolin project and working 
alongside our partners, Giraffe Conservation International 
and the Uganda Wildlife Authority, on the successful giraffe 
translocation project in Kidepo National Park. A member of 
our rhino team also spent time advising, together with the 
CEO, on potential strategies for exciting plans to potentially 
reintroduce black rhino back into the country. Our other two 

The Keeper for a Day scheme has been 
running since 1999. Initiated and run 
primarily by keeping staff, the income 
generated from the Keeper for a Day 
experiences has enabled over 300 
staff members to attend workshops, 
conferences and participate on field 
projects.

travellers both provided technical support for parrot projects. 
A member of the IT team installed monitoring infrastructure for 
great green macaws in Costa Rica, whilst one of our CE&E 
team provided education strategy support for the Ecuador 
Amazon project.

The Ecuador Amazon Project was also the planned 
destination for our Annual Expedition, which is also funded via 
the Keeper for a Day scheme. The expeditions provide a great 
opportunity for several staff from a range of zoo departments 
to engage in our field projects. Unfortunately, this was unable 
to go ahead in 2020 due to the pandemic.
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Conservation 
Education and 
Engagement

During the first few months of 2020 the upward trend in 
educational visits we saw in 2019 continued. There were 
26,928 educational visits to the zoo in January and February 
(a 19% increase on the same months in 2019). However, the 
impact of coronavirus on schools’ ability to visit then took effect 
and the total number of educational visits to the zoo for 2020 
was just 32,827. Of those 7,415 took part in curriculum linked 
teaching sessions on site. 

Throughout the first lockdown we maintained support for 
education through online resources and supporting educational 
engagement with the Virtual Zoo Days. We increased the 
number and variety of resources available through our online 
resources platform, adapting them for families learning at 
home. Between March and June we saw a more than six fold 
increase in views of our learning resource pages (compared 
to the same period the previous year), with 309,000 views in 
those months. 

When schools returned in September, we launched a newly 
developed virtual workshop programme, to complement an 
adapted on-site and outreach offer. Across the Autumn term 
5,528 learners took part in virtual workshops, many of these 
during the November lockdown when the zoo itself was closed. 

To enable a more adaptable approach to working with schools, 
as well as create some efficiencies, our Safari Ranger and 
Education Officer teams were brought together into one team 
of Conservation Education Officers. This new team deliver 
across our outreach, virtual and in-zoo schools programmes 
and can where needed create flexible programmes of learning 
including a combination of formats. The education web pages 
were also reformatted to reflect this joined up and flexible offer, 

Pandemic restrictions, particularly 
social distancing and school closures, 
drastically reduced engagement 
numbers for most of 2020, but 
particularly through digital means we 
have found new ways of engaging 
people with the natural world. 
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Introducing the Chester Zoo Youth Board

Individually, we are 13 young people each with a diversity of 
skills, specialities and opinions. Collectively, we are a voice 
for change in the fight for conservation and each hold the 
same collective goals of representing the voices of future 
generations, improving relationships between humans 
and animals on a global scale and educating others to the 
importance of our mission. 

Since our first meeting in March 2020, we have persevered 
with our targets whilst adapting to the restrictions of Covid-19. 
The Youth Board meets bi-monthly to discuss, action and 
respond to the challenges that face our natural world on a 
daily basis that our generation will be left to fix.

With the incredible support of the Chester Zoo team, we 
have already made remarkable progress in challenging 
conversations, aiding decision making and educating the 
community. 

We have assisted with fundraising for Chester Zoo’s Save Our 
Zoo Campaign, helped develop in-house campaigns such as 
Act for Wildlife & Wildlife Connections, teaming up with other 
youth-based conservation groups across the UK and globally, 
pushed for more diversity within Chester Zoo from the top 

down, advised other zoos on how they can develop their own 
youth boards plus many more ongoing projects and work 
that will collectively add value to the mission of preventing 
extinction. 

For 2021, we are looking forward to presenting a workshop on 
youth governance in conservation at the global Youth Summit 
run by the IUCN in April as part of their World Conservation 
Congress. We will host a range of guest speakers and 
discussion forum over the space of 2 sessions. We will also 
be assisting the CE&E team in their careers festival, love it 
for longer and youth symposium over the next few months. 
The Youth Board are also working on other exciting targets 
throughout this year that we can’t wait to share with you on 
our journey as we continue to develop.

I am unbelievably proud to have chaired the Youth Board 
over the past 12 months. Each member brings their own 
perspective to the group but has the same best interests of 
Chester Zoo at heart. It’s a true reminder that incredible things 
are accomplished when great ideas come together. 

Chelsie Jones, Chair of Youth Board

In 2020, Chester Zoo was the first charity zoo in the UK to appoint 13 young people 
as an advisory board to help enlist their help in the collective fight against extinction.

2020 ZOO REVIEWOUR ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2020

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 6: Preventing extinction by being a voice for change

and to place greater emphasis on our work to support teachers 
delivering their own conservation focused curricula in schools. 

Supporting the development of a conservation curriculum in 
schools continues to be a core focus. During the year, using 
virtual means, we continued to deliver teacher training with 
partners including Ignite TSA and University of Chester. New in 
2020, was the introduction of our first Conservation Curriculum 
Toolkit, produced with education experts and freely available 
on our new support for teachers web pages, the toolkit includes 
subject overviews, lesson plans, knowledge organisers and 
resources. 

Our in-zoo engagement work, where normally we provide 
visitors with lots of opportunities to get hands on with artefacts, 
enjoy storytelling and talks and ask questions of our expert Zoo 
Ranger team, has been significantly curtailed by coronavirus 
restrictions. However, the engagement skills of the Zoo Ranger 
team were utilised to good effect out in the zoo, engaging with 
guests and helping to maintain social distancing as part of 
the welcome team. The team were also able to deliver some 
specific events for young people including a virtual Summer 
School for aspiring conservationists, our first skills course for 
teenagers and several Junior Ranger camps. 

The re-opening of Monsoon Forest represented an opportunity 
for the Exhibitions and Interpretation team to create a new 
interpretation scheme building on lessons learned from the 
evaluation of the original installations. As well as showcasing 
the amazing South East Asian species within Monsoon Forest, 
the scheme also focused on highlighting the conservation 
work we achieve in the area and the skills needed to make 
conservation effective. 

Throughout the year we have continued to provide support 
to field educators around the globe. Early in 2020, our 
Learning Operations Manager went to work with Big Life in 
Kenya, supporting them to deliver teacher training and our 
Conservation Education and Engagement manager travelled 
to Ecuador to help our partners there develop a new education 
strategy. Support was then maintained using virtual means 
and at the end of the year a forum for field educators to come 
together to share practice has been set up. 
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Membership and Adoptions 

We ended the year with 120,539 
members,  8% fewer compared with 
the previous year. Our growth in new 
memberships is hugely dependent on 
zoo visits so we had expected some 
drops in member number in line with our 
drop in visitor numbers, because of the 
coronavirus measures. 

However, during our reopening period 
in June we saw a 29% increase in 
sales for the month compared with 
the previous year showing that new 
members were really keen to support 
us and to join us when we reopened the 
zoo. 

We worked really hard to maintain 
our wonderful connections with our 
members, introducing large numbers 
of member booking slots, more online 
functionality to enable members to 
manage their bookings (including 
requesting membership extensions and 
payment holidays during our closure 
periods) and even a virtual sneak 
preview of Monsoon Forest when the 
habitat reopened in October.  We were 
so delighted to see that members really 
did want to support us with our renewal 
rates between June and November 15% 
higher than we would usually expect. 

The support from our members and adopters was truly overwhelming this year 
and we can’t thank them enough for their generosity, words of support and for 
sticking with us during a really uncertain time. 

Total Memberships vs 2019

Total Adoptions vs 2019

Another real success story of 2020 was 
the huge increase in animal adopters 
that joined us this year.  Our adopters 
grew 283% ending the year with 22,718 
adopters.  Our adopters sent wonderful 
messages of support and loved that 

they could donate to the zoo and to feel 
closer to their favourite animals during 
the time that we were closed. To each 
and everyone who supported us, in any 
way, thank you.

Public Affairs

It was, however, a year during which we made significant 
strides in our efforts to increase our influence within 
Westminster and Whitehall and become a more prominent 
voice for change in UK public policy debates. 

When the first national lockdown was introduced in March 
2020 we began working closely with the professional body 
for UK zoos and aquariums, BIAZA, to support their lobbying 
efforts on behalf of the sector. This was a clear example of 
Chester Zoo playing a leadership role and, as the only UK zoo 
with a dedicated public affairs function, sharing our expertise 
with other collections. 

We developed a public affairs strategy and helped to put 
in place decision making structures, designed to support 
BIAZA’s interactions with the UK Government and devolved 
administrations throughout the Covid-19 crisis. We wrote 
to Government Ministers and helped to create template 
resources to allow other zoos to lobby their local Members of 
Parliament. We also reached out to other membership bodies, 
particularly those representing the wider tourism industry, to 
inform and influence their lobbying efforts.

A crucial early step was establishing an ongoing dialogue with 
key officials within the Department for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs (Defra), which allowed us to keep them informed 
of the challenges that zoos were facing and the impact that 
new regulations and restrictions were having. Ultimately, 
alongside BIAZA colleagues, we were able to escalate our 
concerns up to ministerial level within Defra and get zoos 
firmly on the political agenda. Early successes included the 
likes of receiving official confirmation that zoo staff with direct 
responsibility for animal welfare were ‘essential workers’ who 
could travel to and from work.

Having been consistently told by civil servants that no 
targeted funding would be made available for zoos and 
aquariums, our lobbying finally paid off and the Government 
announced in May an initial £14 million fund for zoos, later 
expanded to £100 million. This was a major achievement 
and the fund has supported several zoos facing immediate 
financial crisis. Sadly though, and despite our concerted 
efforts, significant media interest, and ongoing pressure 
from supportive parliamentarians, the effectiveness of the 
fund continues to be severely hampered by overly restrictive 
eligibility criteria and a lack of support for the conservation, 
education and scientific research work carried out by zoos 
and aquariums. Large charity zoos, such as ourselves, remain 

effectively excluded. The lobbying continues, in an attempt to 
persuade the Government to amend the scheme.

By late spring our public affairs focus began shifting to the end 
of lockdown and the reopening of the Zoo. Again, this involved 
regular dialogue with civil servants and direct lobbying of 
Ministers. However, when the unexpected and devastating 
decision was taken to force us to remain closed, with no plan 
in place for when we might be able to reopen, it was time to 
ramp up the public pressure in the form of the Save our Zoo 
campaign. Public affairs played a key role in this, working in 
tandem with the marketing, PR and fundraising departments.

Our two constituency MPs, Chris Matheson and Justin 
Madders, were unwavering in their support and took to the 
airwaves and the House of Commons chamber to argue 
our case. We also managed to significantly increase the 
breadth of our parliamentary support, especially with MPs in 
constituencies within our wider catchment area. In particular, 
we greatly valued the support offered by several Cheshire 
based MPs, led by Edward Timpson, Andy Cater and Kieran 
Mullan. We saw huge levels of support from parliamentarians 
on social media, in the form of tweets, videos and open letters 
to ministers. MPs told us that Save our Zoo was the number 
one issue for their constituents and one local MP told us their 
email inbox had crashed under the weight of concern.  

We worked with supportive MPs to table parliamentary 
questions and Wallasey MP, Angela Eagle, to table an early 
day motion specifically highlighting Chester Zoo and the 
campaign. This received support from across the political 
spectrum. Working with colleagues at BIAZA, we secured a 
debate in Parliament, which proved to be a huge success. 
During a three hour debate, one attendee remarked that it 
was the best attended adjournment debate that they had 
witnessed in over 30 years. 

As well as influencing on a national level, a major focus 
in 2020 was working with local stakeholders. We received 
invaluable support from our local ward councillors and the 
leadership of Cheshire West and Chester Council. The 
Council threw their weight behind our reopening plans, writing 
to the Prime Minister to highlight the inconsistencies in the 
Government’s approach and declaring us safe to reopen. 
We also worked closely with key stakeholders such as the 
Cheshire and Warrington Local Economic Partnership and 
Marketing Cheshire.

Our public affairs function was established in 2019, during a year that was shaped 
by the UK’s exit from the European Union and a December general election. If this 
felt like a period of political turmoil then 2020 proved to be even more so.
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With huge thanks to all our supporters:  
Conservation Champions
Chester Race Course Company 
Co-operative Group
Craghoppers
Ferrero UK
MECX Group
Saputo Dairy UK
Rhino Products Ltd

Corporate Champions
Airbus
Bank of America Merrill Lynch
Darwin Escapes
MBNA
Urenco

Corporate Supporters
3D Squared 
Barclays Bank
Iceland
M&S Bank
Stagecoach
Sykes Cottages Ltd
Toyota Motor Manufacturing Ltd

Retail Partners 
Charlie Bears 
Joe Davies Ltd
Steven Brown

Trusts, Grants & Major Gifts
Alan & Karen Grieve Charitable Trust
Bathgate Charitable Trust
Joyce Lund Charitable Trust
Lord Leverhulme’s Charitable Trust
Marjorie Coote Charitable Trust
Marsh Christian Trust
Oak Foundation
The Philip Barker Charity
Sir Donald & Lady Edna Wilson Charitable Trust
William Dean Countryside and Educational Trust
William Haddon Charitable Trust

Incredible Individual Gifts
Barbara
Mrs Sandra Birnie
Peter & Lesley Brown
Sheila Fern Brunstrom
Bryant Ltd
Andrew & Savitha Calthorpe
Mr and Mrs Dewing
Ann Fraser
Liz Hall and Family
Mrs Mary Valentine Harris
Dee & Alex Jones
Monica O’Connor
Jenny Slee
Professor Julian and Mrs Hazel Verbov
Brenda Waters

Thank You!

Like so many other charities, the pandemic certainly pushed 
everyone at Chester Zoo to our emotional and professional 
limits. But having so much support behind us brought hope 
and renewed energy throughout the year. We have said it 
many times but it never stops being true – we are always 
astounded by the extent of the passion shown to our 90-year 
old zoo.

From the moment we launched Save Our Zoo, we saw a 
tsunami of love. Donations poured in, devoted members 
continued their support, MPs found themselves bombarded 
with emails about Chester Zoo, and exceptional people up 
and down the country set up wonderful and wacky fundraisers 
to generate vital donations for us.   

From over 90 countries across the globe, our supporters 
raised over £3.3 million in donations over just a matter of 
months. We could never ever have expected that. 

And during the commotion and noise of a very public 
emergency campaign, our trusted and loyal long-standing 
supporters continued to back critical conservation and 

education programmes. We are immensely grateful to our 
corporate sponsors for renewing their support, even if facing 
tough times themselves, and to grant-giving bodies who, no 
doubt being overwhelmed by applications, funded ongoing 
fieldwork and scientific research. 

As always, we were honoured to be considered by so many 
as a place to fulfil lifetime wishes through gifts in Wills, and 
to be guardians of special memories and that special place 
where the lives of those we have lost can be celebrated. In a 
year such as this, we cannot help but feel the poignancy more 
than ever. 

It’s the generosity of all these supporters, coming together in 
so many different ways, that provided a vital lifeline to enable 
us to meet our critical running costs whilst being unable to 
generate income from visitors. We are so thankful for that 
generosity; for people being there when we needed it most. 

Chester Zoo has been saved by incredible acts of kindness, 
generosity and tenacity. Our words are genuinely heartfelt – 
our donors are absolutely extraordinary. Thank you. 

In 2020, for the first time in our history, we had to ask for help. And something 
truly remarkable unfolded. 

And recognised with love & respect…
All those making a considerable or ongoing impact 
through lifetime support and gifts in wills. We are 
proud to be a place where a passion for wildlife is 
inspired and shared; where precious memories are 
passed down through the generations. 

Definitely not forgetting…
The 137,000+ Save Our Zoo donors, over 1,300 
Fundraising Superstars, the 38 innovative corporate 
participators and our 52 Sustainable Palm Oil City 
Champions. And, of course, all the amazing donors who 
wish to remain anonymous!
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Looking Ahead – 2021 and Beyond

Structure, Governance & Management

Reopening of the site and welcoming visitors back through 
the gates in a safe and secure manner is a key driver of the 
operations team. Attempting to recover lost income through 
other channels as well as maximising visitor-based income in 
a sustainable way will occupy staff time. 

The team will work with local, regional and national bodies 
to ensure that each visitor remains as safe as possible and 
use its marketing strength to deliver a series of campaign 
messages throughout the rest of the year to both its members, 
visitors and stakeholders.

As well as reopening, recovery also means the Society 
looking forward to launching its Conservation Masterplan as 
well as reengaging the physical Strategic Plan for the site’s 
development over the next decade. The impact of Covid-19 
may alter some of the decisions that were taken in the last 
few years, however there is a determination to rekindle 
development of the zoo as soon as financially possible. 
This will include the development of Grasslands, repair 
and refurbishment of the stable block, development of high 

impact new animal habitats and improvements to the site’s 
infrastructure to enable its long term success in a new world.
Looking forward also includes understanding and embracing 
those aspects of engagement that became prevalent during 
the months of 2020. Driving forward a digital strategy, 
maintaining remote working where it is efficient and safer, 
interacting with stakeholders in different ways through virtual 
sessions are three examples. 

The team however are also braced for an “Analogue 
Renaissance”. The end of lockdown and the subsidence of 
Covid-19 may encourage outdoor life. Families and friends will 
want to interact, meet and enjoy life; escape from the confines 
of their homes, and with a potential staycation period, the 
team are ready to welcome back visitors when possible.

Finally, and on a more sombre note, the Society recognises 
that any defeat of Covid-19 may not be the end of global 
viruses and that it should model its work both in the UK and 
across its worldwide footprint with that in mind, in a revised 
strategy due to be published in 2022.

The Society’s overarching objective for the forthcoming years is to re-establish 
financial stability in order to kick-start its role in fulfilling all of the conservation 
work within its mission. Although much zoo-based work has continued during the 
pandemic, many of the overseas projects were set to a ticking over mode.

Structure

The North of England Zoological Society (“the Society”) is a 
registered charity (Number 306077) and a company limited by 
guarantee (Number 00287902), regulated by its Memorandum 
and Articles of Association.  Its principal and registered 
office is Cedar House, Chester Zoo, Caughall Road, Upton, 
Chester, CH2 1LH.

The Society, which owns and operates Chester Zoo, also 
wholly owns a trading subsidiary company, Chester Zoo 
Enterprises Limited, registered in England with company 
number 02669535, whose taxable profits are distributed to the 
Society via Gift Aid.

Chester Zoo Foundation Nigeria (“CZFN”), an unlimited 
company (registered in England with company number 
08904330) is a wholly owned subsidiary of Chester Zoo 
(Nigeria) Limited (“CZNL”), a limited company (registered 
in England, no. 08374657) and a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Society.  Both CZNL and CZFN are now dormant 
having originally been established to facilitate the Society’s 
conservation activities in Nigeria.

The Society is also the sole member of the North of England 
Zoological Society Pension Trustee Company Limited, a 
company limited by guarantee (registered in England with 
company number 09173532) which provides governance of 
the Society’s defined benefit pension scheme.

Governance

The Trustees, as a body of charity trustees and as directors 
for the purposes of company law, have general control and 
management of the administration of the Society. They 
determine the strategic direction and policies of the Society, 
with consultation and discussion with the Principal Executives 
and their teams who implement these policies. In March 2021, 
having considered the shape, strategy and management 
required for the zoo as it moves forwards, Trustees appointed 
Jamie Christon as Chief Executive Officer, replacing Dr Mark 
Pilgrim who stood down.

The number of Trustees shall be not less than three and not 
more than sixteen of whom not more than thirteen shall be 
Elected Trustees and not more than three shall be Co-opted 
Trustees. Elected Trustees, who must be members of the 
Society, are elected by the members at the Annual General 
Meeting to serve for a maximum of six years. Co-opted 
Trustees are co-opted by the Trustees and may serve for up 
to fifteen months from being appointed. The Trustees hold at 
least six formal meetings each year, together with an Annual 
General Meeting. The Chair and Vice Chairs are elected by 

the Trustees from their current membership, for a period not 
exceeding three years before re-election for a maximum of 
one further term not exceeding three years. They are not 
required to retire as Trustees in accordance with the six year 
maximum in this circumstance.

Key Responsibilities of the Trustees

To manage the business of the Society and to hold the 
Society “in trust” for current and future beneficiaries by:

• ensuring that the Society has a clear vision, mission and 
strategic direction and is focused on achieving these;

• being responsible for the performance of the Society, its 
employees and for its “corporate” behaviour;

• ensuring that the Society complies with legal and 
regulatory requirements;

• acting as guardians of the Society’s assets, both tangible 
and intangible, taking all due care over their security, 
deployment and proper application; and

• ensuring that the Society’s governance is of the highest 
possible standard.

Trustee Committees

In 2020, Trustees delegated aspects of their powers to 
committees consisting of some of their members and 
specialist advisors. These committees report to the Trustees.

Ethical Review Committee – prime responsibility for advising 
the Executive of the Society, on behalf of the Trustees, 
in respect of all research and ethics, and to oversee the 
ethical activities of the Society insofar as they relate to the 
advancement of the Society’s stated mission.

Audit & Risk Management Committee – prime responsibility 
to review the effectiveness and integrity of systems for 
internal financial control, risk assessment procedures, 
information technology security, procedures for detecting 
fraud, appointment of a senior finance team, appointment of 
independent and internal auditors and review of audit findings, 
and to investigate, on behalf of the Trustees, any financial and 
administrative matter which may put the charity at risk.

Remuneration Committee – prime responsibility is to 
determine the remuneration for the principal executives on 
behalf of the Trustees. Remuneration for other key managers 
are set by the principal executive in consultation with the 
remuneration committee. The society engages Korn Ferry 
to benchmark remuneration against the not for profit sector 
outside London and uses these benchmarks where possible 
in determining remuneration.
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Trustee Nominations Committee – takes responsibility for 
identifying and proposing new Trustees, and (if elected) for 
their subsequent induction, support and development.

Strategic Development Committee – responsible for 
ensuring that the Strategic Development Plan (SDP) is 
implemented in accordance with the strategy set out by 
Trustees. Monitors progress, scrutinises and makes decisions 
in respect of individual strategic capital projects in respect 
of the overall SDP with regard to quality, cost and overall 
programme. Makes recommendations to the Board of 
Trustees for any issues of significance in respect of the SDP 
and its implementation.

Trustee involvement in each committee at 31 December 2020 
is set out in the table below:

Committees

E
th

ic
al

 R
ev

ie
w

A
ud

it 
an

d 
R

is
k 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

R
em

un
er

at
io

n

Tr
us

te
e 

N
om

in
at

io
ns

S
tra

te
gi

c 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

Bruce Ursell Chair Chair x
Malcolm Ardron x x Chair
William Beale x x x x
Jen Carter x
Edwin Christmas
Penny Coates x x
Sandra Donnelly
Prof Richard 
Griffiths Chair

Prof David 
MacDonald
Lee Rawlinson
Simon Venables Chair

Trustee Recruitment

If there are vacancies in any year, the Trustee Nominations 
Committee prepares a list of names of members of the 
Society that they recommend for election to the Trustee board 
at the Annual General meeting. Such recommendations are 
made having regard to the maintenance of an appropriate 
mix of skills on the Trustee Board to ensure adequate 
management of the zoo and protection of the Society’s 
assets.

Trustees’ Training

The relationship between the executive and the Trustees is 
fundamental to the Society’s success. It is vitally important 
therefore that the Trustees understand the overall day-to-day 
operational activities of the Society. To this end, new Trustees 
are required to complete an induction tour of the zoo’s various 
divisions, and to discuss with the executive team the role and 

function of each division, and the part it plays in the fulfilment 
of the Society’s mission.

Each Trustee is issued with an induction pack on becoming 
a Trustee that covers their roles and responsibilities and 
the mission, vision, values, strategy and current plans 
for the Society. All Trustees are encouraged to attend 
appropriate external training courses, covering the role and 
responsibilities of being a charity trustee.

Trustees’ Third Party Indemnity

The Society purchases liability insurance cover for the 
Society, its Trustees and other employees which provides 
appropriate cover against claimants’ damages, judgements, 
settlements or the costs incurred in the defence of actions. 

Risk Management

The Trustees have set a risk management strategy which sets 
out responsibilities for risk management across the Society, 
the Society’s risk appetite, a process for reporting, review and 
escalation in relation to identified risks and links to the internal 
control environment and external legal frameworks.

The Trustees actively review the major risks that the Society 
faces on a regular basis against the relevant mitigating 
internal controls and believe that maintaining cash reserves 
within defined levels, alongside appropriate insurances will 
provide sufficient resources in the event of most adverse 
conditions.

The key risks identified by the Trustees are: 

• A major event outside the control or influence of 
management threatens staff and/or public safety or zoo 
operations. The Covid-19 pandemic is an example of such 
an event and the long term effect of the pandemic is likely 
to impact the way the zoo operates for the foreseeable the 
future.

• A major incident within the control or influence of 
management threatens human or animal safety, or 
damages the Society’s reputation or the zoo’s ability to 
operate.

• There is a  significant downturn in financial performance for 
a prolonged period.

The effectiveness of the Society’s risk assessment procedures 
are reviewed by the Audit & Risk Management Committee. 
The Society’s internal auditors undertake a schedule of 
internal audits determined and scoped by the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee and report back to the committee on 
a regular basis. The internal auditors also provide advice and 
guidance on the Society’s overall risk management process.

Risk Management
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The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. In determining the appropriate basis of 
preparation of the financial statements, the Trustees are 
required to consider whether the Society and the group can 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Having been closed for almost 4 months in 2020, the zoo 
was closed again on 5th January 2021 due to the Covid-19 
pandemic and re-opened on the 12th April, the closure having 
a material impact on the Society’s income. Visitor capacity and 
income will remain reduced until such time as social distancing 
measures are removed. It is hoped this will be in June 2021, 
as set out in the government’s roadmap.

As in 2020, discretionary spend has been curtailed. The 
Society has continued to utilise the government’s Job Retention 
Scheme for those staff not needed to maintain operations 
during closure and whilst visitor numbers and income remain 
restricted. Capital expenditure plans have generally been 
suspended, with only critical maintenance projects taking place.

The Society has continued to utilise its banking facility 
provided by Santander, comprising a £22m Revolving Credit 
Facility and a £2m overdraft throughout the pandemic. The 
facility was intended to be used in the main to fund the 
Grasslands development, which has now been delayed and 
the facility has instead provided additional headroom during 
an uncertain period. 

The facility is provided subject to two financial covenants 
which are tested quarterly: net debt to EBITDA (leverage) and 
EBITDA to net finance charges. In recognition of the current 
macroeconomic uncertainty, the Society’s bank agreed to 
suspend testing of these covenants until June 2021, and 
agreed that had the zoo been unable to re-open on 12th 
April, the June 2021 covenant test would also have been 
suspended. We are grateful to Santander for their ongoing 
support during these uncertain times.

With the re-opening of the zoo on 12th April, the Society is 
expected to generate sufficient income to meet the covenant 
tests in the facility.

The Trustees consider that the Society and group are well 
placed to manage the risks within its control and mitigate 
those outside its control, including the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic. After the review of prudent forecasts and predictions 
for the period to 31st December 2022, which do not take 
account of any potential upside of the removal of social 
distancing measures in June 2021, whilst taking account of 
reasonably possible changes in income and considering the 
existing banking facilities and cash reserves, the Trustees 
expect that the Society and group will have adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the next 12 months 
following the date of approval of the financial statements. 

However, there remains uncertainty as to the continued 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and further national or local 
lockdowns remain a possibility. The ability of the Society 
to withstand a further closure depends on its timing and 
duration – a short closure during the summer would result in 
greater lost income than a longer closure during the winter.  
In addition the potential of an economic downturn following 
the pandemic may impact visitor numbers and memberships. 
As a consequence of these uncertainties the Trustees have 
considered downside scenarios that reflect such potential 
closures.

The scenarios considered were:

• A months delay to the zoo’s re-opening on 12th April
• A two week closure in August, the zoo’s busiest period
• A 3 month closure over winter 2021/22 including 

cancellation of the winter Lanterns event

Set against these scenarios would be mitigating actions such 
as further reductions in discretionary expenditure, further 
utilisation of the Job Retention Scheme, deferral of capital 
expenditure plans and the potential for improved financial 
performance if social distancing restrictions are removed in 
summer 2021.

Whilst there is sufficient headroom in the Society’s cash 
reserves and banking facility to manage all of these scenarios 
independently, there remains the potential for a covenant 
breach within the next 12 months. The bank remains 
supportive, as indicated by the agreed suspension of covenant 
tests, and further flexibility may be available in the future if 
required.

The impact of further closures indicates a material uncertainty 
outside the control of the Society which may cast significant 
doubt over the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in the event that, if the closure resulted in a covenant breach, 
the bank elected to trigger a repayment of outstanding debt. 
In such circumstances and without further mitigating actions, 
the Society may be unable to realise assets and discharge 
liabilities in the normal course of business. The Society’s 
financial statements do not include the adjustments that would 
result if the Society and group were unable to continue as a 
going concern. 

Having undertaken this work, and considered the uncertainties 
described above, the Trustees are of the opinion that the 
Society and group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a 
period of not less than 12 months from the date of approval of 
these financial statements. Accordingly, they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 

Going Concern and Covid-19
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Public Benefit

The Trustees have complied with the duty in section 4 
of the Charities Act 2011 to have due regard to public 
guidance published by the Charity Commission, including its 
supplementary guidance on fee charging.

The Society relies on income from admission fees, food 
& beverage and retail sales and other charges to cover 
its operating costs and in setting the pricing structure, the 
Trustees give careful consideration to the accessibility of the 
zoo to those on low incomes. Coupled with a flexible pricing 
structure, many visitors enjoy concessionary prices which are 
set to encourage visits by children, students, families, senior 
citizens and those with disabilities, with 40,000 receiving free 
admission, together with 136,000 visits by under 3s who visit 
for free. There were more than 32,000 concessionary priced 
education visits, a significant reduction from 2019 (132,000) 
due to the cancellation of many visits, but of those who did 
visit over 26,000 received free admission.

Grant making

The Society supports a wide range of conservation and 
research activities both in the zoo and externally, often in 
partnership with other organisations to whom we provide 
ongoing financial support. One-off annual grants including 
scholarships are also awarded. In 2020 the Society gave 
grants totalling £0.6m (2019: £1.0m) with the reduction 
reflecting the impact of the zoo’s closures due to Covid-19.

Criteria for funding support for projects include feasibility; 
expected conservation outcomes; qualification of project 
personnel; capacity building; benefits to local communities; 
relevance to other conservation initiatives of the zoo and 
regions or countries where the zoo already has a field 
conservation focus; links to species within the collection plan 
and opportunities for technical support from zoo employees.

Primarily, support is provided to those projects which are 
judged to have potential to make a significant positive 
conservation impact. Applications are requested to be made 
on our standard grant application forms and these are 
reviewed internally against standardised criteria before a 
funding decision is made.

Fundraising

The Society is committed to making fundraising a fair, 
responsible and joyous experience for our supporters and 
those who fundraise on our behalf. We are committed to 
building and maintaining trust. We want people to feel 
connected to our work and understand the incredible impact 
their donations make. 

The Society is wholly committed to best fundraising 
practice and as such we’re signed up with the Fundraising 
Regulator. Both the organisation, and the fundraisers 
operating within it, abide by the Code of Fundraising 
Practice. We do not undertake fundraising that we consider 
to be intrusive or not akin to the inclusive culture of our 
organisation, and have taken the decision to eliminate the 
following activities from our fundraising:

• Telephone fundraising (either in-house or third party)
• Mass unaddressed direct-mail postal fundraising 

campaigns 
• Door-to-door fundraising campaigns 
• Wealth screening of our databases 
• Direct cold telephone asks to individuals where there is no 

personal link or connection
• Direct outbound SMS fundraising campaigns 

In 2020 we employed three permanent members of staff 
within the fundraising team, based at Chester Zoo. In addition, 
we sought external support from three consultants, to work 
on trusts, foundations and grants, and major donor giving. 
Consultant fundraisers contracted to work on our behalf must 
either be a member of the Institute of Fundraising, or be 
contracted on terms which directly embrace the Fundraising 
Promise, the Code of Practice and our own fundraising 
ethics. Consultants are not remunerated by commission or 
commission-only methods. 

Consultants working on our behalf are very much treated like 
part of the core team, with regular update meetings to assess 
style, tone and content of any proposals, applications or asks 
and monitoring targets of quality assurance and compliance.

The permanent fundraising team are subject to regular 
meetings to monitor activity, reporting to the Director of 
Marketing about all areas of giving. The fundraising team also 
regularly report to the board of trustees to ensure there is a 
clear understanding of the zoo’s fundraising activities, and 
the trustees are aware of their responsibilities in relation to 
fundraising. 

Individuals, community groups, corporate social committees 
and schools often want to fundraise to donate to Chester 
Zoo. We support those by providing free and accessible 
guides to responsible and safe fundraising, pointing them to 
guidance provided by the Fundraising Regulator through the 
Code of Fundraising Practice. In 2020, our fundraising guides 
were adapted to reflect the restrictions brought about by the 
pandemic, encouraging people to fundraise safely and from 
home, taking into account all Government guidelines.  Where 
appropriate, we issue communities and individuals wishing to 
fundraise for us with a letter of authority, solicitation statement 
or commercial participation agreement.

Public Benefit, Grant Making and Fundraising
The Fundraising T&C’s section of the Chester Zoo website 
outlines our fundraising complaints process and the steps we 
take to resolve any issue brought to us. From here, we also 
help people to access the Fundraising Regulator for advice 
and guidance. In 2020 we did not receive any complaints 
relating to our fundraising activities and received no action 
requests from the Fundraising Preference Service.

Safeguarding, and treating donors fairly, is paramount to our 
work. We support people on their donation journey with us, 
in whatever capacity requested or needed, responding to 
the needs of the individual as per the Code of Fundraising 
Practice. With relevant permissions, we communicate with 
our supporters so any indicators of additional required 
care become apparent (such as bereavement or personal 
circumstances). We take measures to protect donors including 
delaying the acceptance of gifts, returning gifts (cooling off 
period), monitoring online giving for gifts made in error or 
malicious activity, and ensuring there is clear transparency as 
to where a gift will be used. 

If we believe an individual lacks sound capacity to make 
a donation, it will not be taken. Returned donations will be 
logged on our dedicated database, so we can prepare if 
another donation is made or attempted, making a reasoned 
judgment and acting appropriately. Supporters under the 
age of 16 must have explicit guardian approval, and must 
be accompanied by their guardian during any telephone 
communications and during their fundraising. They will not 
receive any general fundraising communications from us.  

We take all reasonable steps to ensure that supporters 
understand the context, implications and use of their donation 
and our campaigns are carefully managed to never place 
undue emotional pressure to donate. 
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Trustee Responsibilities Independent Auditor’s Report
Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities

The Trustees (who are also directors of the North of England 
Zoological Society for the purposes of company law) are 
responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Annual Report 
(including the Strategic Report) and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
trustees have elected to prepare the financial statements 
in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable 
law (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice). Under company law the Trustees must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the 
charitable company and the group and of the incoming 
resources and application of resources, including the income 
and expenditure, of the charitable group for that period. 
In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are 
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

• observe the methods and principles in the Charities 
Statement of Recommended Practice (FRS102);

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards, 
comprising FRS 102, have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
charitable group will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the charitable company’s transactions and disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
charitable company and the group and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the charitable company and the group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

Disclosure of Information to Auditor

Each of the persons who are Trustees at the date of approval 
of this report confirms that:

• So far as the Trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Society’s auditor is unaware;

• the Trustee has taken all the steps that he/she ought to 
have taken as a Trustee in order to make himself/herself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the Society’s auditor is aware of that information.

The confirmation is given and should be interpreted with the 
provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the charitable company’s website. Legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

Independent Auditor

A resolution to formally reappoint Grant Thornton UK LLP as 
independent auditors will be proposed at the Annual General 
Meeting.

The Trustees Annual Report and Financial Statements were 
approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf on the 
27 April 2021 by:

Bruce Ursell
Chair of Trustees

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The North of 
England Zoological Society (the ‘parent charitable company’) 
and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 
December 2020, which comprise the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Activities, the Consolidated and Society Balance 
Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102; The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and 
parent charitable company’s affairs as at 31 December 
2020 and of the group’s incoming resources and application 
of resources including, its income and expenditure for the 
year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We have been appointed as auditor under the Companies 
Act 2006 and report in accordance with regulations made 
under that Act.  We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are 
independent of the group and parent charitable company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the 
FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going 
concern 

We draw attention to the principal accounting policies on page 
57 in the financial statements, which indicates that a material 
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s and parent charitable company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern.

In May 2020, the Group and parent charitable company 
secured a new banking facility which is subject to two financial 
covenants which are tested quarterly. In recognition of the 
current macroeconomic uncertainty, the Group’s and parent 
charitable company’s bank has agreed to suspend testing of 
these covenants until June 2021. 

In performing their assessment of going concern the Trustees 
have considered forecast cash flows for the next 12 months 
following the date of approval of the financial statements. 
There remains uncertainty as to the continued impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and further national or local lockdowns 
remain a possibility. As a consequence of this uncertainty the 
Trustees have considered downside scenarios that reflect 
such potential closures. 

The Trustees have considered three scenarios being a 
months delay to the zoo’s re-opening on 12th April, a two 
week closure in August, the zoo’s busiest period and a 3 
month closure over winter 2021/22 including cancellation 
of the winter Lanterns event. In such circumstances the 
Group and parent charitable company would need to secure 
agreement with its bankers to waive the testing of covenants 
or waive any breaches in covenants beyond June 2021. 

As stated in the principal accounting policies, these events 
or conditions, along with the other matters as set forth in the 
going concern principal accounting policy on page 57, indicate 
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant 
doubt on the Groups’ and parent charitable company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in 
respect of this matter.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that 
the trustee’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Other information

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in 
the Trustees’ Report, set out on pages 3 to 50 other than 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our 
audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we 
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there 
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is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of 
the audit:

• the information given in the Strategic Report and the 
Directors’ report, prepared for the purposes of company law, 
included in the Trustees’ Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements.

• the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report included in 
the Trustees’ Report have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable legal requirements.

Matter on which we are required to report 
under the Companies Act 2006

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group 
and parent charitable company and its environment obtained 
in the course of the audit, we have not identified material 
misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report 
included in the Trustees’ Report.

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 
in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
parent charitable company, or

• returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

• the parent charitable company’s financial statements are 
not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; 
or

• certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by 
law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees for the 
financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’ 
Responsibilities set out on page 50, the trustees (who are 

also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes 
of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view, and for such internal control as the trustees 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are 
responsible for assessing the group and the parent charitable 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either 
intend to liquidate the group or parent charitable company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Explanation as to what extent the audit 
was considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line 
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material 
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. 
Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an 
unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial 
statements may not be detected, even though the audit is 
properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs 
(UK). 

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:  

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory 
frameworks applicable to the group and parent charitable 
company, and the industry in which it operates and 
determined which may influence the financial statements. 
Given the nature of its operating activities, the group and 

parent charitable company is subject to several laws and 
regulations where the consequences of non-compliance 
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in 
the financial statements.

 We determined that the following laws and regulations are 
the most significant which are directly relevant to specific 
assertions in the financial statements:

◦ Those that relate to reporting frameworks being FRS102 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice (“Charities 
SORP (FRS102)”) and the Charities Act 2011 and the 
Companies Act 2006 and the relevant tax compliance 
regulations.

◦ Those that relate to the operational activities of the group 
and parent charitable company as a Zoo being the Zoo 
Licencing Act 1981, including subsequent amendments, 
Health and Safety requirements of the animals, visitors 
and employees, data protection and bribery and 
corruption practices. 

• We assessed the susceptibility of the group’s and parent 
charitable company’s financial statements to material 
misstatements, including how fraud might occur. We 
performed the following audit procedures to address the 
risks related to irregularities and fraud:

◦ evaluation of the processes and controls in place to 
address the risks related to irregularities and fraud;

◦ challenge of the assumptions and judgements made by 
management in its significant accounting estimates;

◦ review of performance targets and conditions to funding 
received and their propensity to influence efforts made by 
management to manage earnings;

◦ review and testing of journal entries, in particular manual 
journal entries, relating to management estimates and 
journal entries impacting the reported result for the year; 

◦ consideration of the potential for fraud in revenue 
recognition through the manipulation of revenue 
from membership income, cut off in respect of visitor 
admissions and claims in respect of the Coronavirus Job 
Retention Scheme grant;

◦ identifying related parties and through our data 
interrogation tools performed a review for any related 
party transactions during the year.

• We enquired of management, the compliance officer, the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee and the internal 
auditors whether there was any awareness of instances 
of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether 
they had any knowledge of actual or suspected fraud. We 
corroborated the results of our enquiries to supporting 
documentation such as board minute reviews. 

• In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, 
we obtained an understanding of the group’s and parent 
charitable company’s operations, the applicable statutory 
provisions and business risks that may result in risk 
of material misstatement, and the group’s and parent 
charitable company’s control environment, including the 
adequacy of procedures for authorisation of transactions.

• The engagement team’s experience with similar 
engagements, their understanding and knowledge of the 
group’s and parent charitable company’s industry and their 
understanding of the industry and regulatory requirements 
were considered in assessing the appropriateness of the 
collective competence and capabilities of the engagement 
team.

No matters relating to non-compliance with laws and 
regulations or relating to fraud were identified in relation to the 
above-mentioned laws and regulations that were identified by 
us as most significant.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the charitable company and the charitable 
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Deborah Watson BSc (Hons) FCA
Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
Liverpool

28 April 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities Consolidated & Society Balance Sheets
(including a consolidated income and expenditure account) for the year ended 31 December 2020 as at 31 December 2020

Notes

Unrestricted 
Funds 
£’000

Restricted 
Funds 
£’000

Total 2020
£’000

Total 2019
£’000

Income from:
Charitable activities
Animals and plant collection 2 20,687 - 20,687 30,624

Donations, Grants and Legacies
Donations & Gift Aid on admissions 3 1,847 - 1,847 2,932

Animal adoptions 3 1,185 - 1,185 260

Save Our Zoo campaign 3 3,260 - 3,260 -

Other voluntary income 3 674 280 954 922

Job Retention Scheme grant 3 - 1,326 1,326 -

Other trading activities
Subsidiary’s trading turnover 4 6,369 - 6,369 12,695

Job Retention Scheme grant 4 - 453 453 -

Investments
Investment income 5 14 - 14 26

Exceptional income
Insurance claim income 9 - - - 7,690

Total income 34,036 2,059 36,095 55,149

Expenditure on:
Charitable activities
Animals and plant collection 6a (22,909) (1,071) (23,980) (25,617)

Conservation and Science and education 6a (3,586) (827) (4,413) (5,722)

Raising funds
Costs of generating voluntary income 6a (520) - (520) (365)

Subsidiary’s cost of goods sold and other costs 4 (6,640) (453) (7,093) (11,780)

Exceptional costs society 9 - - - (891)

Total expenditure (33,655) (2,351) (36,006) (44,375)

Net income 381 (292) 89 10,774

Other gains and losses
Transfer from restricted funds 21 5,276 (5,276) - -

Transfer to restricted funds 21 (59) 59 - -

Net movement in funds 5,598 (5,509) 89 10,774

Reconciliation of funds 21

Total funds brought forward 53,735 7,675 61,410 50,636

Total funds carried forward 59,333 2,166 61,499 61,410

The North of England Zoological Society made an unconsolidated surplus of £502,000 all of which related to normal continuing 
operations (2019: £10,774,000 of which £3,975,000 related to normal continuing operations and £6,799,000 resulted from 
exceptional income and expenditure).
No Statement of Changes in Equity has been presented as all such gains and losses have been included above.   
The notes on pages 61 to 74 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Society

Notes 2020
£’000

2019
 £’000

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Fixed Assets
Intangible assets 12 1,010 1,238 1,010 1,238

Tangible assets 13 69,101 68,337 69,101 68,337

Investment in subsidiary companies 14 - - - -

70,111 69,575 70,111 69,575

Current assets
Stocks 15 743 760 132 94

Debtors 16 955 7,959 1,751 8,667

Cash at bank and in hand 17 5,814 4,840 5,807 4,523

7,512 13,559 7,690 13,284

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (7,424) (10,274) (7,189) (9,999)

Net current assets 88 3,285 501 3,285

Total assets less current liabilities 70,199 72,860 70,612 72,860

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one 
year 19 (8,700) (11,450) (8,700) (11,450)

Net assets 61,499 61,410 61,912 61,410

Funds employed
Income funds – restricted 21 2,166 7,675 2,166 7,675

Income funds - unrestricted 21 59,333 53,735 59,746 53,735

 

Total funds employed 61,499 61,410 61,912 61,410

The financial statements were approved and authorised by the Trustees and signed on their behalf on the 27 April 2021 by:

Bruce Ursell, Chair of Trustees

Company number – 00287902 – The North of England Zoological Society

The notes on pages 61 to 74 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Principal Accounting Policies
The following accounting policies have been applied in 
dealing with items that are considered material in relation to 
the financial statements of The North of England Zoological 
Society (“the Society”). They are consistent with those 
adopted in the financial statements for the prior year.

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis under the historical cost convention and in 
accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United 
Kingdom. The financial statements comply with the Charities 
Act 2011, the Companies Act 2006, the Memorandum and 
Articles of Association, and Accounting and Reporting by 
Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice (“Charities 
SORP (FRS102)”) applicable to charities preparing their 
financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(FRS102). The functional currency of the charity is sterling (£).

The group’s activities, together with the factors likely to affect 
its future development, performance and position are set out 
in the Trustees’ report. The financial position of the Society 
and its subsidiaries, its cash flows and liquidity position are 
shown in these financial statements. 

Significant estimates and judgements made in preparing the 
financial statements are set out on page 60. The Trustees’ 
report also notes the principal risks and uncertainties that 
impact on the group.

The Society has taken advantage of the exemption allowed 
from preparing a cash flow statement on the basis that it is 
a qualifying entity and the consolidated cash flow statement 
included in these financial statements includes the Society’s 
cash flows.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. In determining the appropriate basis of 
preparation of the financial statements, the Trustees are 
required to consider whether the Society and the group can 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

Having been closed for almost 4 months in 2020, the zoo 
was closed again on 5th January 2021 due to the Covid-19 
pandemic and re-opened on the 12th April, the closure having 
a material impact on the Society’s income. Since re-opening, 
visitor capacity and income will remain reduced until such time 
as social distancing measures are removed. It is hoped this 
will be in June 2021, as set out in the government’s roadmap.
As in 2020, discretionary spend has been curtailed. The 

Society has continued to utilise the government’s Job 
Retention scheme for those key staff not needed to maintain 
operations during closure and whilst visitor numbers and 
income remain restricted. Capital expenditure plans have 
generally been suspended, with only critical maintenance 
projects taking place.

The Society has continued to utilise its banking facility 
provided by Santander, comprising a £22m Revolving Credit 
Facility and a £2m overdraft throughout the pandemic. The 
facility was intended to be used in the main to fund the 
Grasslands development, which has now been delayed and 
the facility has instead provided additional headroom during 
an uncertain period, the RCF will expire in April 2025.

The facility is provided subject to two financial covenants 
which are tested quarterly: net debt to EBITDA (leverage) and 
EBITDA to net finance charges. In recognition of the current 
macroeconomic uncertainty, the Society’s bank agreed to 
suspend testing of these covenants until June 2021, and 
agreed that should the zoo have been unable to re-open on 
12th April, the June 2021 covenant test would also have been 
suspended. We are grateful to Santander for their ongoing 
support during these uncertain times.

With the re-opening of the zoo on 12th April, the Society is 
expected to generate sufficient income for the Society to meet 
the covenant tests in the facility.

The Trustees consider that the Society and group are well 
placed to manage the risks within its control and mitigate 
those outside its control, including the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic. After the review of prudent forecasts and predictions 
for the period to 31st December 2022, which do not take 
account of any potential upside of removal of social distancing 
measures in June 2021, whilst taking account of reasonably 
possible changes in income and considering the existing 
banking facilities and cash reserves, the Trustees expect that 
the Society and group will have adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the next 12 months following the 
date of approval of the financial statements. 

However, there remains uncertainty as to the continued 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and further national or local 
lockdowns remain a possibility. The ability of the Society 
to withstand a second closure depends on its timing and 
duration – a short closure during the summer would result in 
greater lost income than a longer closure during the winter.  
In addition the potential of an economic downturn following 
the pandemic may impact visitor numbers and memberships. 
As a consequence of these uncertainties the Trustees have 
considered downside scenarios that reflect such potential 
closures.

for the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes 2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net movement in funds as per the Statement of Financial Activities 89 10,774

Adjustments for:
Interest paid 270 223

Interest received 5 (14) (26)

Amortisation charge 12 149 5

Depreciation charge 13 6,435 6,127

Impairment charge 13 208 -

Exceptional income due from insurers 9 - (7,690)

Decrease/(increase) in stocks 15 17 (28)

(Increase)/decrease in debtors 16 (97) 106

(Decrease)/increase in creditors due within one year 18 (2,649) 1,121

Contributions to pension scheme - -

Net cash generated from operating activities 4,408 10,612

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest received 5 14 26

Insurance proceeds received 7,101 5,750

Purchase of fixed assets 12,13 (7,328) (19,914)

Net cash used in investing activities (213) (14,138)

Cash flow from financing activities:
Cash (outflows)/ inflows from borrowing 19 (2,750) 4,400

Interest paid (270) (223)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (3,020) 4,177

Operating cash inflow in year 1,175 651

Increase in net cash at bank in the year 1,175 651

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 17 4,182 3,531

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 17 5,357 4,182

The notes on pages 61 to 74 form part of these financial statements
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The scenarios considered were:
• A months delay to the zoo’s re-opening on 12th April
• A two week closure in August, the zoo’s busiest period
• A 3 month closure over winter 2021/21 including 

cancellation of the winter Lanterns event

Set against these scenarios would be mitigating actions such 
as further reductions in discretionary expenditure, further 
utilisation of the Job Retention Scheme and deferral of capital 
expenditure plans and the potential for improved financial 
performance if social distancing restrictions are removed in 
summer 2021.

Whilst there is sufficient headroom in the Society’s cash 
reserves and banking facility to manage all of these 
scenarios independently, there remains the potential for 
a covenant breach within the next 12 months. The bank 
remains supportive, as indicated by the agreed suspension of 
covenant tests, and further flexibility may be available in the 
future if required.

The impact of further closures indicates a material uncertainty 
outside the control of the Society and the group which may 
cast significant doubt over the Society’s and the group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern in the event that, if the closure 
resulted in a covenant breach, the bank elected to trigger a 
repayment of outstanding debt. In such circumstances and 
without further mitigating actions, the Society and the group 
may be unable to realise assets and discharge liabilities in the 
normal course of business. The Society’s financial statements 
do not include the adjustments that would result if the Society 
and group were unable to continue as a going concern. 

Having undertaken this work, and considered the 
uncertainties described above, the Trustees are of the 
opinion that the Society and group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, 
being a period of not less than 12 months from the date of 
approval of these financial statements. Accordingly, they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
financial statements.

Consolidation

The consolidated statement of financial activities (SOFA), 
consolidated balance sheet and consolidated cash flow 
statement include the financial statements of the Society and 
its subsidiary undertakings, Chester Zoo Enterprises Limited 
and the North of England Zoological Society Pension Trustee 
Company Limited made up to 31 December 2020 and comply 
with recommended practice for accounting by charities. The 
results of the subsidiaries are consolidated on a line by line 
basis. No separate SOFA has been presented for the charity 
alone as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 
2006 and paragraph 397 of the SORP. Chester Zoo (Nigeria) 
Limited and Chester Zoo Foundation Nigeria have not been 
included because they are dormant and not considered 
material to the group.

Funds Employed

All funds employed must be expended in furtherance of 
the objectives of the Society. Restricted income funds must 
be used in furtherance of some specific aspect of those 
objectives.

Designated funds are those which have been set aside by 
the Trustees out of unrestricted funds for identifiable future 
expenditure, but the designation has an administrative 
purpose only and does not legally restrict the Trustees’ 
discretion to apply the funds.

The unrestricted fund represents the funds to provide for the 
working capital of the group and contingent expenditure.

Incoming Resources

In accordance with the SORP, all incoming resources 
becoming receivable by the group during the year are 
recognised in the SOFA, regardless of their source or of 
the purpose to which they are to be allocated. Income, both 
unrestricted and restricted, is recognised at the time of receipt 
except where it relates to a service to be provided in the 
following financial year. Such income is deferred and released 
over the period the service is provided. An example of this is 
the treatment of annual membership income.

Where income is restricted to a specific purpose, as specified 
by a donor, the income is included in restricted funds. 
Legacies are recognised when payment is received or assets 
transferred, or where there has been a grant of probate and 
the executors have established that there are sufficient assets 
in the estate after meeting its liabilities to pay the legacy. 
Grants from government and non-government sources are 
recognised when there is entitlement, conditions have been 
met and there is certainty of receipt.

Resources Expended

Expenditure is recognised when a liability is incurred. In 
accordance with the Charities SORP, support costs have been 
allocated to charitable activities and fundraising, apportioned 
by usage according to relative cost driving activities. Support 
costs also include governance costs as a separate component 
in line with the Charities SORP. Governance costs comprise 
of all costs involving public accountability of the group and its 
compliance with regulations and good practice.  

VAT

Visitor admission income is treated as VAT exempt. 
Accordingly the Society is a partially exempt body and may 
not recover all VAT incurred on costs, with the exception 
of VAT incurred in connection with the catering, retail, and 
event operations for which the sales are subject to VAT. 
These operate through the trading subsidiary Chester Zoo 
Enterprises Limited and the VAT directly related to these 
operations can be recovered in full. The cost of irrecoverable 

VAT is apportioned in the SOFA under other resources 
expended. Any irrecoverable VAT relating to the purchase of 
fixed assets is capitalised as part of the asset value.

Taxation

The Society is considered to pass the tests set out in 
Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 2010 and therefore 
it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK 
corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, the charity is potentially 
exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains 
received within categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 
Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of 
Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or 
gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes. 

Investments in Subsidiary Undertakings

These are included at cost less any provision for impairment.

Intangible Fixed Assets

Computer software is included in the balance sheet at historic 
purchase cost less accumulated amortisation. Assets in the 
course of construction are stated at cost, less any recognised 
impairment loss and are amortised when the assets are ready 
for their intended use.

Asset Class Rate of Amortisation Applied
Computer software 10% to 25% straight line

Tangible Fixed Assets

Tangible assets are included in the balance sheet at 
historic purchase cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any recognised impairment loss. Assets in the course 
of construction are stated at cost, less any recognised 
impairment loss.

Depreciation

The rates and method of depreciation are consistent with 
those used in previous years. Depreciation is calculated 
using a straight line basis. Freehold land is not depreciated 
and assets in the course of construction are only depreciated 
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Asset Class Rate of Depreciation 
Applied

Freehold Properties 2% to 10%
Buildings and Enclosures 4% to 25%
Machinery and Equipment 10% to 25%

No annual assessment is made of the value of the animal and 
plant collection. It is valued consistently at a nominal sum of 
£1,000 and not depreciated. 

Impairment

The carrying amounts of assets are reassessed when 
impairment indicators are present. An impairment loss is 
recognised to the extent the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The estimated 
recoverable amount is reviewed at subsequent balance sheet 
dates where further information is available. Note 8 further 
explains the impairment charge recognised in the year ended 
31st December 2020, no impairment charge was recognised 
in 2019.

Leases

All leases currently held by the group are operating leases 
and the rental charges are taken as expenditure when 
incurred. The group has not entered into any finance leases.

Stocks

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and estimated net 
realisable value. Where necessary, provision is made for 
obsolete, slow moving and defective stocks.

Pensions

The group operates two voluntary pension schemes.

The group makes contributions to a defined contribution 
pension scheme for all qualifying permanent employees and 
to the NEST scheme for all qualifying seasonal employees. 
Employees are automatically enrolled on the pension scheme 
unless the group is notified by the employee that they wish 
to opt out. The cost of these contributions is charged to the 
SOFA when payable.

The defined benefit scheme was closed to future accrual 
in March 2012. The group has historically made payments 
in order to reduce the scheme’s solvency deficit over time. 
These payments have been recognised within actuarial gains 
and losses in the net movement in funds in the SOFA.

To the extent that the scheme is in surplus on a technical 
provisions basis, the group does not recognise this in the 
financial statements as the group is unable to recover any 
surplus either through reduced contributions in the future or 
through refunds from the scheme.

Grant-making

The group supports a wide range of conservation and 
research activities both in the zoo and externally, often in 
partnership with other organisations. Liabilities relating 
to grants are recognised once the group is irrevocably 
committed to the provision of the grant.
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Related Party Transactions

Details of transactions with entities that are part of The North 
of England Zoological Society group are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements.

Debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised at transaction price 
less any impairment.

Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash, overdrafts and short 
term highly liquid investments with a short maturity of three 
months or less from the date of acquisitions, or opening of the 
deposit, or similar account.

Creditors

Creditors are recognised where the group has a present 
obligation resulting from a past event that will probably result 
in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to 
settle the obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. 
Creditors are normally recognised at their settlement amount 
after allowing for any trade discounts due.

Financial instruments

The group only enters into basic financial instrument 
transactions that result in the recognition of financial assets 
and liabilities, like accounts receivable and payable.

Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost 
are assessed at the end of each reporting period for objective 
evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is 
found, an impairment loss is recognised in the SoFA. 

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the 
impairment loss is measured as the difference between an 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest 
rate. If a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the 
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current 
effective interest rate determined under the contract. 

For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the 
impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
an asset’s carrying amount and best estimate, which is an 
approximation of the amount that the charitable company 
would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the balance 
sheet date. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the balance sheet when there is an enforceable 
right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 

Significant judgements and estimates

Preparation of the financial statements requires management 
to make significant judgements and estimates. The items 
in the financial statements where these judgements and 
estimates have been made include:

• Properties owned by the group that are rented out: 
The group owns a number of properties that are rented 
out. These properties are accounted for at cost less 
accumulated depreciation rather than as investment 
properties as the group does not hold these properties for 
investment purposes. They are held in furtherance of the 
charitable purposes of the group. 

• Impairment of tangible fixed assets:   
Impairment tests will only be undertaken where there 
has been some indication that impairment has actually 
occurred. In a situation where the net book value of a 
tangible fixed asset will be greater than its recoverable 
amount, the value of the asset will be written down to 
this recoverable amount. At 31st December 2020 the 
Society had spent £1.1m on the Grasslands project 
which is included in Tangible Assets under construction. 
Construction work on this project was due to commence in 
autumn 2020, but due to the impact of Covid-19, the main 
construction is now expected to start in 2023, with enabling 
work taking place in 2022. The group therefore does not 
believe there is any impairment of the costs incurred to 
date on the Grasslands project.

• Depreciation rates: depreciation rates used in respect of 
both tangible and intangible assets reflect the expected 
useful life of those assets based on historic experience. 
For major projects, component parts are allocated varying 
depreciation rates depending on their nature.

• Defined benefit pension scheme: the present value of 
the pension scheme asset depends on a number of factors 
that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety 
of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the 
net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. 
Any changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed 
in note  25, will impact the carrying amount of the pension 
liability. The group has not recognised this pension scheme 
asset on the balance sheet as, despite the fact that as a 
result of the surplus the group is not currently making any 
contributions into the scheme, the scheme is closed to 
future accrual, and the group is not entitled to a refund from 
the scheme.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Status

The Society is a company limited by guarantee and has no share capital. Members have guaranteed the liabilities of the Society 
to the extent of £1 each in the event of the charity being wound up.

The registered address is Cedar House, Caughall Road, Chester, CH2 1LH. The principal activity of the Society is included in 
the Trustees report on page 3.

2. Income from Charitable Activities

Unrestricted Funds

Visitor Related 
£’000

Other 
unrestricted 

£’000

Other 
designated 

£’000

Total 2020 
£’000

Total 2019 
£’000

Animals and plant collection
Visitor admission to zoo and 
gardens 10,604 - - 10,604 19,786

Monorail - - - - 399

Membership of zoo and Gift Aid 
thereon 8,673 - - 8,673 8,826

Events 1,074 - - 1,074 1,248

Other 336 - - 336 365

Total incoming resources from 
charitable activities 20,687 - - 20,687 30,624

3. Income from Donations, Grants and Legacies

Unrestricted 
2020
£’000

Restricted 2020
£’000

Total 2020
£’000

Total
 2019
£’000

Donations and Gift Aid on admission to zoo 1,847 - 1,847 2,932

Animal adoptions 1,185 - 1,185 260

Donations from Save Our Zoo campaign 3,260 - 3,260 -

Grants and other donations 674 280 954 922

Job Retention Scheme Grant - 1,326 1,326 -

Total voluntary income 6,966 1,606 8,572 4,114

The restricted income funds derive from certain donations, grants and legacies received and are put towards a variety of capital 
projects, equipment or conservation activities. During the year the Society received a job retention scheme grant of £1,325,711 
from the government in response to the effects of Covid-19 on the business. Chester Zoo Enterprises Limited also received 
a job retention scheme grant of £452,967 during the year. All of the conditions of the job retention scheme grants have been 
fulfilled.
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4. Other Trading Activities

The Society has a wholly owned trading subsidiary, Chester Zoo Enterprises Limited, incorporated in the UK (representing an 
investment of £100 in ordinary £1 shares) which operates the catering, retail and event activities of the Zoo from outlets rented 
from the Society. It distributes its taxable profit via Gift Aid to the Society. 

However, due to the trading impact of Covid-19 during 2020, the subsidiary did not generate sufficient profits to make the gift aid 
distribution and as a result the Society agreed to waive the Gift Aid payment in 2020 and consequently paid corporation tax on 
its 2019 profit. A summary of the company’s results for 2019 which have been restated to reflect the corporation tax payable is 
shown below.

The Society also provided a rent concession during the financial year which expired in December 2020 whereby the subsidiary 
would pay no rent during periods of closure, with rents during periods of operation being capped at the lower of 10% of turnover 
in an outlet or the rent in the lease agreement.

Audited financial statements for Chester Zoo Enterprises Limited for the year ended 31 December 2020 will be filed with the 
Registrar of Companies.

Chester Zoo Enterprises Limited trading results

Total
2020

£’000

Restated
Total
2019
£’000

Trading Income 6,369 12,695

Job Retention Scheme Grant 453 -

Total Income 6,822 12,695

Resources expended
Labour and cost of goods sold (4,989) (8,997)

Gross trading surplus for year 1,833 3,698

Indirect costs
Operating and support costs paid to the Society (2,008) (2,783)

Property rents paid to Society (325) (732)

Redundancy costs (96) -

Operating (loss)/profit (596) 183

Taxation 35 (35)

(Loss)/profit for the financial year (560) 148

Donation waived/(payable) to parent under gift aid scheme 148 (148)

(Deficit)/surplus retained in subsidiary (412) -

5. Investment income

Total
 2020
£’000

Total 
2019

 £’000
Interest on cash deposits 14 26

Total investment income 14 26

6a. Analysis of Total Expenditure

Employee 
Costs 
£’000

Redundancy 
Costs
£’000

Other 
Direct 
Costs
£’000

Support 
Costs

(Note 6b)
£’000

Total 
2020 
£’000

Total 2019
£’000

Charitable activities
Animals and plant collection 7,174 385 10,008 6,413 23,980 25,617

Conservation science and education 1,940 106 1,049 1,318 4,413 5,722

Total for Society 9,114 491 11,057 7,731 28,393 31,339

Raising funds
Costs of generating voluntary income 100 7 147 266 520 365

Exceptional costs (note 9) - - - - - 891

Subsidiary’s cost of goods sold and other costs 2,562 96 2,427 2,008 7,093 11,780

Total for Society 9,214 498 11,204 7,997 28,913 32,595

Total expenditure for Group 11,776 594 13,631 10,005 36,006 44,375

6b. Analysis of Support Costs

Total 2020
£’000

Total 
2019
£’000

Direct Employee Costs 4,182 4,606

Other Costs 5,823 6,359

Total of support costs 10,005 10,965

Support costs have been allocated to the activities set out in note 6a on the basis of their usage of cost driving activities 
attributable to each support service, as follows:

Support cost breakdown by activity

Animals 
and plant 
collection 

£’000

Conservation 
science and 

education

 £’000

Generating 
voluntary 

income

 £’000

Subsidiary 

£’000

Total
2020
£’000

Total
2019
£’000

Governance and Directorate 344 112 16 258 730 910
Human Resources 494 124 7 202 827 1,172
Information Technology 709 178 9 291 1,187 1,107
Finance Department 1,489 183 133 236 2,041 2,525
Security and Site operations 312 102 14 204 632 665
Maintenance Department 1,901 619 87 817 3,424 3,639
Estates and Project Planning 1,164 - - - 1,164 947
Total 6,413 1,318 266 2,008 10,005 10,965
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7. Grants Payable in Furtherance of the Charity’s Objectives

The Society makes institutional grants payable in furtherance of the charity’s objects, to support field and zoo conservation and 
research.  The grants have been included in the other direct costs analysis of total resources expended within the Statement of 
Financial Activities.

Grants to 
institutions

£’000

Grants to 
individuals

£’000

Total
 2020
£’000

Total 
2019
£’000

Conservation and Science and Education 586 23 609 1,043

Total grants payable 586 23 609 1,043

8. Net Income before other Recognised Gains and Losses

This is after charging:
Total 2020

£’000
Total 2019

£’000

Services provided by the Society’s auditor

     Fees payable for the audit of the charity and consolidated accounts 35 32

     Fees payable for the audit of the subsidiaries 8 11

     Fees payable for taxation advice for the charity 3 -

     Fees payable for taxation compliance for the subsidiary 5 3

Operating Leases 119 72

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 149 5

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 6,435 6,127

Impairment of tangible fixed assets (see below) 208 -
The impairment charge of £0.2m in the year represents costs incurred and capitalised in 2019 for decommissioning of the 
monorail as an enabler for the Grasslands development. As that project has now been delayed, with construction expected to 
start in 2023, the monorail decommissioning project has been considered independently and related costs written off.

9. Exceptional income and costs related to the Monsoon Forest fire

On 15th December 2018 a fire broke out in the Monsoon Forest building within the zoo’s Islands zone. The fire caused 
significant damage to the buildings and its contents. The zoo was fully insured in respect of the damage and the building was 
finally restored and re-opened in October 2020.

Included within the financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2019, and shown as comparative figures to the year 
ended 31st December 2020 are the following amounts relating to the fire and the re-build:

Within the SOFA for 2019, exceptional income amounting to £7,690,000 was recognised based on the final insurance settlement 
agreed in 2020. This amount comprised:

£’000

Further income to be received from insurers towards the cost of the re-instatement of the Monsoon 
Forest Building, in addition to the £5,160,000 recognised in 2018.

3,612

A contribution from insurers towards the cost of constructing buildings to house animals displaced by 
the fire

1,246

Income received from insurers to cover lost past and future income and additional costs of working 2,832

Total 7,690

Also included within the financial statements for 2019 were exceptional costs of £891,000. £731,000 of these costs were 
reimbursed by insurers and the income is included above. The balance of £160,000 related to costs that could not be recovered 
from insurers.

10. Trustees’ Remuneration

The Trustees, being charity Trustees, received no remuneration (2019: nil) but received reimbursement totalling £447 (2019: 
£4,111) during the year for travel and accommodation expenses necessarily incurred. Indemnity insurance costing £16,074 
(2019: £13,395) has been taken out by the Society to protect the Society, its Trustees and other employees.

11. Employee costs 

The average monthly headcount employed by the Society during the year was 595 (2019: 830) including seasonal employees. 
The average monthly number of full-time equivalent employees (FTE) analysed by category were as follows:

Number of FTE 
employees
2020 

Number
2019 

Number
Animals and plant collection 227 263

Conservation science and education 57 57

Fundraising 3 3

Trading subsidiary 93 174

Support and Governance 122 121

Total FTE employees 502 618

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

Total 2020
£’000

Total 2019
£’000

Wages and salaries cost 13,377 15,339

Social security cost 1,167 1,208

Pension cost:

  Defined benefit pension scheme - -

  Defined contribution pension scheme 1,449 1,584

Total employee costs 15,993 18,131

The number of employees, including those employed for only part of the year, whose emoluments for the year (excluding 
pension contributions) fell within each band of £10,000 from £60,000 upwards is shown below. All of these employees had 
benefits accruing to them under the defined contribution pension scheme. Two are deferred members of the defined contribution 
pension scheme.. Contributions to the defined contribution scheme for all of these employees totalled £103,864 (2019: 
£106,428).

2020 
Number

2019 
Number

From £120,001 to £130,000 2 2

From £110,001 to £120,000 - -

From £100,000 to £110,000 - -

From £90,001 to £100,000 - -

From £80,001 to £90,000 1 1

From £70,001 to £80,000 3 2

From £60,001 to £70,000 2 4

The key management personnel employed by the Society comprise five members of the executive team during the year. Their 
total employee benefits for 2020 including pension contributions, were £545,915 (2019: £535,115).
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12. Intangible Assets

Assets under 
course of  

construction 
£’000

Computer 
software

 £’000
Total 

£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2020 1,191 52 1,243
Additions 22 82 104

Disposals and Transfers (1,191) 1,008 (183)

At 31 December 2020 22 1,142 1,164

Amortisation
At 1 January 2020 - 5 5

Charge for the year - 149 149

At 31 December 2020 - 154 154
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 22 988 1,010
At 31 December 2019 1,191 47 1,238

13. Tangible Assets 

Assets 
under 

construction

£’000

Freehold 
Property 

£’000

Buildings 
and 

enclosures 

£’000

Machinery 
and 

equipment

 £’000

Animals 
and plant 
collection

 £’000

Total

£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2020 18,155 5,040 89,197 14,060 1 126,453

Additions 1,187 154 3,822 2,061 - 7,224

Transfers (16,998) - 16,998 183 - 183

Disposals - (43) (11,565) (1,404) - (13,012)

At 31 December 2020 2,344 5,151 98,452 14,900 1 120,848
Depreciation
At 1 January 2020 - 2,844 47,514 7,758 - 58,116

Charge for the year - 17 5,037 1,381 - 6,435

Impairment charge - - 208 - - 208

Disposals - (43) (11,565) (1,404) - (13,012)

At 31 December 2020 - 2,818 41,194 7,735 - 51,747
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 2,344 2,333 57,258 7,165 1 69,101
At 31 December 2019 18,155 2,196 41,683 6,302 1 68,337

The Trustees consider that the Society holds no fixed assets for investment purposes. Whilst some of the fixed assets do yield 
a rental income, they were not acquired for that purpose, but to facilitate the operation of the zoo which is the primary charitable 
purpose of the Society.

The Trustees consider that it is not meaningful to consider the market value of most of the Society’s land and buildings. Where 
an assessment can be made, the Trustees consider that the market value exceeds the book value.

All the tangible fixed assets included in the consolidated statement above relate entirely to the Society.

The Society considers that none of its assets meet the definition of heritage assets under FRS102. Although certain assets may 
have a heritage quality, these are all used for operational purposes in the running of the zoo and are therefore classified as 
operating assets.

At 31st December 2020 the Society had spent £1.1m on the Grasslands project which is included in Tangible Assets under 
construction. Construction work on this project was due to commence in autumn 2020, but due to the impact of Covid-19, the 
main construction is now expected to start in 2023, with enabling work taking place in 2022.

14. Investments in subsidiary companies
2020

£
2019

£
Investment in Chester Zoo Enterprises Limited 100 100

Investment in Chester Zoo (Nigeria) Limited 1 1

North of England Zoological Society Pension Trustee Company Limited 1 1

The principal undertakings in which the Society’s interest at the year-end is more than 20% are as follows:

Subsidiary undertakings Company 
Number

Country of 
incorporation Principal activity Class and percentage 

of shares held
Group Company

Chester Zoo Enterprises
Limited 02669535 UK Catering and Retail 100% ordinary 100% ordinary

Chester Zoo (Nigeria)
Limited 08374657 UK Protecting the 

biodiversity of Nigeria 100% ordinary 100% ordinary

Chester Zoo Foundation
Nigeria 08904330 UK

Protecting the biodiversity 
of Nigeria. Wholly 

owned by Chester Zoo 
(Nigeria) Limited

100% ordinary -

All the above undertakings are registered at Cedar House, Caughall Road, Upton-by-Chester, Chester, CH2 1LH. Activities in 
Nigeria have been wound down and Chester Zoo (Nigeria) Limited and Chester Zoo Foundation Nigeria are now dormant.

15. Stocks

Group Society
2020

£’000
2019
£’000

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Goods for resale 611 666 - -

Consumables 132 94 132 94

Total 743 760 132 94

16. Debtors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year

Group Society
2020

£’000
2019
£’000

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Trade debtors 170 199 163 189
Amount owed by subsidiary undertaking - - 838 718
VAT and Other debtors 8 59 8 59
Insurance debtor (note 9) - 7,101 - 7,101
Corporation Tax repayable 35 - - -
Prepayments and accrued income 742 600 742 600
Total 955 7,959 1,751 8,667

Amounts owed by the subsidiary is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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17. Net debt
At 1 January 2020

£’000
Cash flows

£’000
At 31 December 2020

£’000
Cash deposits 3,128 915 4,043
Cash held in escrow 1,712 59 1,771
Cash at bank and in hand 4,840 974 5,814
Bank overdraft (658) 201 (457)
Cash and cash equivalents 4,182 1,175 5,357
Revolving credit facility (11,450) 2,750 (8,700)
Net debt (7,268) 3,925 (3,343)

Cash at bank and in hand includes £1.8m (2019: £1.7m) of cash held in escrow, set aside for the Trustee of the Society’s defined 
benefit pension scheme which is to be used, if required, to fund a buyout of the scheme, when the scheme liabilities would be fully 
secured with an insurer. The money would also be paid to the pension scheme if the Society were to become insolvent.

18. Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year

Group Society
2020

£’000
2019
£’000

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Bank overdraft 457 658 457 658

Trade creditors 867 2,219 632 1,945

Other taxes and social security costs 478 403 478 403

Accruals 2,557 3,809 2,557 3,809

Other creditors 495 356 495 355

Deferred income 2,570 2,829 2,570 2,829

Total 7,424 10,274 7,189 9,999

The Society has a £2.0m bank overdraft facility which is renewed annually. The purpose of the overdraft is for short term 
working capital purposes. Interest on the overdraft is charged at 2.75% above LIBOR

Balance at 
31 Dec

2019
£’000

Utilised 
advanced 
purchases

£’000

Advanced 
purchases

£’000

Balance at 
31 Dec 

2020
£’000

Deferred income
Memberships 2,639 (2,639) 2,211 2,211
Gift vouchers 148 (148) 290 290
Event deposits 42 (15) 42 69

Total deferred income 2,829 (2,802) 2,543 2,570

Balance at 
31 Dec

2018
£’000

Utilised 
advanced 
purchases

£’000

Advanced 
purchases

£’000

Balance at 
31 Dec 

2019
£’000

Deferred income
Memberships 1,907 (1,907) 2,639 2,639
Gift vouchers 72 (72) 148 148
Event deposits - - 42 42

Total deferred income 1,979 (1,979) 2,829 2,829

19. Creditors: Amounts Falling Due After More Than One Year

Group Society
2020

£’000
2019
£’000

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Revolving credit facility 8,700 11,450 8,700 11,450

Total 8,700 11,450 8,700 11,450

An unsecured £22m revolving credit facility was taken out with Santander in April 2020. The facility bears interest at a margin of 
between 1.5% and 1.75% above LIBOR on utilised amounts and a fee of 35% of the margin is paid on unutilised amounts.   As 
part of compliance with the terms of the facility, the Society is obliged to meet two covenants. These are:
• Interest cover – EBITDA must be at least four times the interest payable; and
• Leverage – Net debt must not exceed three times EBITDA.

The facility expires in April 2025 when it must be repaid in full. 

20. Financial instruments

The carrying amount of the group’s and society’s financial instruments at the year end were:

Group Society
2020

£’000
2019
£’000

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Financial assets: debt instruments measured at amortised cost 5,992 12,445 6,816 12,836

Financial liabilities: financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 13,076 14,492 12,841 18,217

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost comprise cash and other assets that have the contractual 
rights to receive cash.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise liabilities which have a contractual obligation to deliver cash.
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21. Movement in Consolidated Funds

Balance at 
31 Dec

2019
£’000

New funds
£’000

Funds 
utilised

£’000
Transfers

£’000

Balance at  
31 Dec 

2020
£’000

Restricted funds
Animal and plant collections 58 26 (10) (44) 30
Conservation science and education projects 371 254 (410) 44 259

Monsoon Forest fire donations 258 - (152) - 106

Escrow account - defined benefit pension scheme 
(note 17) 1,712 - - 59 1,771

Job retention scheme grant - 1,779 (1,779) - -
Insurance income 5,276 - - (5,276) -
Total restricted funds 7,675 2,059 (2,351) (5,217) 2,166
Unrestricted funds
Designated funds
Defined benefit pension scheme 1,194 - - (64) 1,130
Funds tied to fixed assets 50,641 - - 3,752 54,393
Total designated funds 51,835 - - 3,688 55,523
Free reserves
Cash reserve 1,900 35,815 (35,434) 1,529 3,810
Total free reserves 1,900 35,815 (35,434) 1,529 3,810
Total group funds employed 61,410 37,874 (37,785) - 61,499

Balance at 
31 Dec

2018
£’000

Restated
New funds

£’000

Funds 
utilised

£’000
Transfers

£’000

Balance at  
31 Dec 

2019
£’000

Restated
Restricted funds
Animal and plant collections 20 79 (41) - 58
Conservation science and education projects 596 394 (619) - 371
Monsoon Forest fire donations 163 95 - - 258
Escrow account - defined benefit pension scheme 
(note 17) 998 - - 714 1,712

Insurance income (note 9) 5,160 5,191 - (5,075) 5,276
Total restricted funds 6,937 5,759 (660) (4,361) 7,675
Unrestricted funds
Designated funds
Defined benefit pension scheme 3,602 - - (2,408) 1,194
Funds tied to fixed assets 38,597 - - 12,044 50,641
Total designated funds 42,199 - - 9,636 51,835
Free reserves
Cash reserve 1,500 49,390 (43,715) (5,275) 1,900
Total free reserves 1,500 49,390 (43,715) (5,275) 1,900
Total group funds employed 50,636 55,149 (44,375) - 61,410

Unrestricted

Free
£’000

Designated
£’000

Restricted
£’000

2020 Total 
Funds
£’000

Fixed assets - 70,111 - 70,111
Current assets 3,810 1,536 2,166 7,512
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year - (7,424) - (7,424)
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year - (8,700) - (8,700)
Net assets 3,810 55,523 2,166 61,499

Unrestricted
Free

£’000
Designated

£’000
Restricted

£’000
2019 Total 

Funds
£’000

Fixed assets - 69,575 - 69,575
Current assets 1,900 3,984 7,675 13,559
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year - (10,274) - (10,274)
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year - (11,450) - (11,450)
Net assets 1,900 51,835 7,675 61,410

Restricted income funds include income from certain donations, grants and legacies received, money set aside in escrow for the 
defined benefit pension scheme (note 25) and money due from insurers in respect of the Monsoon Forest rebuild project (note 9).

Designated funds relate the Society’s strategy to fund its defined benefit pension scheme to buy-out with an insurance company 
in the medium term and to its fixed assets.

The Society sets aside a minimum £3.8m (2019: £1.9m) cash reserve, held separately from the Society’s other cash balances. 
Such a sum is sufficient to operate for a period of two months without significant curtailment of its activities.

22. Capital Commitments

Group Society

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Capital expenditure, contracted for but not provided 
in the financial statements - 3,556 - 3,556

23. Leasing Commitments

The group’s future minimum non-cancellable operating lease commitments are as follows:

Group Society
2020

£’000
2019
£’000

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Within one year - 4 - 4
Between one and five years - - - -

- 4 - 4
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24. Related Party Transactions

The Society did not receive a charitable donation by Gift Aid from Chester Zoo Enterprises Limited (2019: £nil). The Society 
leases retail and catering outlets to Chester Zoo Enterprises Limited for an agreed annual lease of £325,000 (2019: £732,000) 
with a concession to reflect the impact of Covid-19 on the operations on its subsidiary. It also charged staff and support costs 
totalling £2,007,635 (2019: £2,782,743). As at the 31 December 2020, the Society was owed £837,978 (2019: £717,584) from 
Chester Zoo Enterprises Limited. 

25. Pensions

The Society operates two pension schemes; a defined benefit scheme and a defined contribution scheme. The defined benefit 
scheme holds assets in a separately administered fund and closed to future accrual in March 2012.  In line with FRS102, 
a surplus can only be recognised in the balance sheet to the extent that the Society can gain economic benefit from it.  As 
the scheme is closed to future accrual, a surplus can only be recognised to the extent of an agreed refund, so there is not 
recognition of the surplus at the year end.

A full actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 December 2017 and updated to 31 December 2020 for the purpose of these 
disclosures by Spence & Partners Limited, qualified independent actuaries. 

2020 2019  
£’000 £’000

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations 17,650 16,365
Fair value of plan assets 21,405 19,646

Surplus 3,755 3,281
Effect of asset ceiling (3,755) (3,281)

              
Net defined benefit asset / (liability) recognised - -

The major assumptions made by the actuary for the defined benefit scheme were as follows:

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at: 2020 2019
Discount rate 1.34% 2.10%
Rate of price Inflation (RPI) 3.13% 3.21%
Rate of pension increases (5% RPI) 3.00% 3.07%
Rate of pension increases (2.5% RPI) 2.07% 2.09%

Assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65:
Male member retiring today (member age 65) 22.4 23.1
Male member retiring in 20 years (member age 45 today) 24.0 25.3
Female member retiring today (member age 65) 24.8 25.7
Female member retiring in 20 years (member age 45 today) 26.5 28.0

The fair value of the plan assets were as follows:

Fair value 
at 31 Dec 

2020
£’000

2020
%

Fair value 
at 31 Dec 

2019
(£’000)

2019
%

Cash and cash equivalents 214 1.0 1,177 6.0

Equities 2,098 9.8 3,656 18.6

Debt Instruments 19,093 89.2 14,813 75.4

Property - - - -

Total 21,405 100.0 19,646 100.0

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Change in defined benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year 16,365 18,025

Interest cost 340 457

Past service cost 379 -

Remeasurement: Actuarial (gain)/loss 961 1,696

Benefits and expenses paid (395) (5,272)

Losses on settlements/curtailments - 1,459

Benefit obligation at end of year 17,650 16,365

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Change in scheme assets
Fair value of scheme assets at beginning of year 19,646 22,655

Interest income 408 595

Employer contributions (incl. employer direct benefit payments) - -

Benefits and expenses paid (395) (5,272)

Remeasurements – return on scheme assets less interest income 1,971 1,668

Arrears allowance in respect of benefit rectification (225) -

Fair value of scheme assets at end of year 21,405 19,646
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2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Expense recognised in the statement of financial activities
Current service cost - -

Net interest on net defined benefit obligation (68) (138)

Past service cost 604 -

Gains and losses on settlements and curtailments - 1,459

Gains and losses due to surplus limitation (536) (1,321)

Total net interest cost
Remeasurements:

Effect of changes in assumptions 1,301 2,114

Effect of experience adjustments (340) (418)

Return on plan assets (excluding interest income) (1,971) (1,668)

Remeasurement on effect of asset ceiling 1,010 (28)

Pension deficit reduction accrual - -

Total remeasurements included in other gains and losses in the SOFA - -
Total pension cost recognised in the SOFA - -

The Society has committed to making annual contributions with a view to funding the scheme on a solvency basis in the 
medium term. However, given the level of funding in the scheme it was agreed that the amounts due to be paid by the Society 
in 2018, 2019 and 2020 would instead be held in escrow by the Society and hence the amount has not been included in the 
assets above. In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, the society in agreement with the Trustees has deferred payment of the 2020 
contribution to June 2021. The escrow balance of £1.8m forms part of the Society’s cash and cash equivalents balance (note 
17) and is treated as restricted funds (note 21).

The Trustees of the Scheme have a first legal charge over certain assets of the Society with a market value of circa £10m.

Contributions, Defined Contribution Scheme

Contributions to the defined contribution scheme totalled £1,449,165 (2019: £1,584,965). The expenditure is taken from 
unrestricted funds.

26. Post balance sheet events

On 5th January 2021, the zoo was closed to the public for the third time as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. The zoo was able 
to re-open to the public on 12th April 2021. The closure for over 3 months has had a significant impact on the Society’s income 
for 2021.



www.chesterzoo.org
Registered Charity Number 306077

Registered Company Number 287902 

North of England Zoological Society 
Caughall Road 

Upton by Chester 
Chester  CH2 1LH
Tel: 01244 380280 

Chester Zoo is licensed under the Zoo Licensing Act, 1981. In the interests of conservation and educational study, this report may be freely copied without al-
teration or amendment and stored by electronic means without formal permission. It is also available to download from our website. The NEZS is happy to as-

sist anyone with special needs obtain a copy in the appropriate format. Published April 2021 by the North of England Zoological Society.

Front cover: Strawberry Frog


